Exhibit 3 to the Statement of Dr Jan Fizzell



The value of prevention

An Evidence Check rapid review



Elly Howse, Paul Crosland, Lucie Rychetnik, Andrew Wilson Members of the Evidence for Action division, Sax Institute

February 2021

The value of prevention: An Evidence Check rapid review brokered by the Sax Institute for the Centre for Population Health, NSW Ministry of Health

Prepared by: The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre

Contributing authors:

Elly Howse Paul Crosland Lucie Rychetnik Andrew Wilson Members of the Evidence for Action division, Sax Institute

Editors: Ainsley Burgess and Helen Signy.

© Sax Institute 2021



All material and work produced by the Sax Institute is protected by copyright. The Institute reserves the right to set terms and conditions for any use of this material. This product, excluding the Institute's logo and associated logos, and any material owned by third parties, is made available under a Creative Commons Attribution–NonCommercial–ShareAlike 4.0 International licence.

You are free to copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format, provided you attribute the work to the Sax Institute, acknowledge that the Sax Institute owns the copyright, and indicate if any changes have been made to the material. You may not use the material for commercial purposes. If you remix, transform or build upon the material, you must distribute your contributions under the same licence as the original.

Enquiries about any use of this material outside the scope of this licence can be sent to: preventioncentre@saxinstitute.org.au

Suggested citation: Howse, E, Crosland, P, Rychetnik, L, Wilson, A. The value of prevention: An Evidence Check rapid review brokered by the Sax Institute for the Centre for Population Health, NSW Ministry of Health. Sydney, Australia: The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre, 2021.

Our funding partners



Disclaimer: This evidence review is not necessarily a comprehensive review of all literature relating to the topic area. It was current at the time of production (but not necessarily at the time of publication) and is based on sources believed to be reliable.

Contents

Executive summary	3
Purpose of this review	6
Background	7
What is prevention?	7
Primary prevention strategies	8
Methods	9
Review approach	9
Review questions	9
Search strategies	9
Inclusion and exclusion criteria	10
	10
Quality assessment	12
Findings	13
Review question 1 – health burden and economic costs	13
Review question 2 – benefits of primary prevention	19
Discussion and conclusions	38
Glossary of terms	43
References	44
Appendices	51
Appendix A: Search strategies	51
Appendix B: Inclusion and exclusion criteria	63
Appendix C: PRISMA flow diagrams	66
Appendix D: Included studies	70

Executive summary

This Evidence Check is a rapid review that focuses on identifying and demonstrating the value of prevention in an Australian context. It focuses on 4 key risk factors causally linked with poor health in Australia: overweight and obesity, unhealthy diet, physical inactivity, and tobacco use.

Prevention involves acting early to reduce or prevent harm or illness. Prevention includes primordial or primary prevention (reducing risk before disease or health impacts have occurred), secondary prevention (responding to early stages of disease), and tertiary prevention (managing and reducing disease progression). Prevention is a priority in Australia because of the burden and cost of a range of diseases and risk factors, which have significant repercussions for health and health equity.

Aims and methods

This review summarises the health burden and economic costs of 4 risk factors (overweight and obesity, unhealthy diet, physical inactivity and tobacco use), and identifies the relevant evidence about the health, social, economic and other benefits of population-level strategies at the primordial or primary level of prevention that protect the health of the community through reducing exposure to these risk factors before disease occurs.

The review questions were:

- 1. What are the economic and health costs of high body mass, poor diet, insufficient physical activity and tobacco use?
- 2. What are the health, social and economic benefits of primary prevention strategies which address high body mass, poor diet, insufficient physical activity and tobacco use; and which strategies are most cost-effective?

Searches were undertaken of the peer-reviewed (published) literature and relevant grey literature documents published between 2015 and 2020. Two systematic searches were undertaken, one for each review question, using 4 scientific databases for both searches. A total of 8 searches were undertaken for the peer-reviewed literature. For the grey literature, advanced searching was undertaken using Google for key government and organisational websites.

For review question 1, literature was identified that provided the attributable health burden and/or economic costs associated with one or more of the 4 risk factors in the Australian population. For review question 2, literature was identified that provided the effectiveness of strategies and interventions addressing one or more of the 4 risk factors, including their benefits and costs. This included both literature from an Australian context as well as overseas jurisdictions similar to Australia such as New Zealand, UK and Canada.

Due to the nature of the review questions and the vast body of literature, only systematic reviews and particular types of grey literature documents were prioritised for review question 1. For review question 2, umbrella reviews (reviews of reviews or 'meta-reviews') and meta-syntheses (reviews of meta-analyses) were prioritised, along with grey literature documents including reports, non-published reviews and evaluations.

Findings

A large number of results were identified for both review questions during the searching process, including a total of 150 grey literature documents and 15,206 results for peer-reviewed studies. After screening of titles, abstracts and full text, a total of 86 peer-reviewed studies and grey literature documents were included in this review, 14 studies for review question 1 and 72 for review question 2.

Review question 1

For review question 1, 14 reviews, syntheses and reports were included (peer-reviewed n=5, grey n=9). The majority of the reviews focused on the health burden of one or more of the identified risk factors, including the most recent Australian Burden of Disease Study.

According to the Australian Burden of Disease Study 2015, the health burden of the 4 risk factors (overweight and obesity, unhealthy diet, physical inactivity, and tobacco use) is substantial. Tobacco use was the modifiable risk factor with which the largest health burden was associated, which was 20,933 deaths and 9.3% of the overall health burden (in terms of Disability-Adjusted Life Years or 'DALYs') in 2015. Overweight and obesity was associated with 14,165 deaths and 8.4% of DALYs. Dietary factors were associated with 19,876 deaths and 7.3% of DALYs. Physical inactivity was associated with 7,079 deaths and 2.5% of overall health burden in terms of DALYs. The health burden of these 4 risk factors cannot be combined due to the joint causal responsibility they share with several diseases.

The evidence identified by this review also indicates that in Australia there are significant costs associated with each of the 4 key risk factors, representing a large economic burden to individuals, communities, businesses, governments and society. For example, one systematic review identified 18 studies estimating the economic burden of lifestyle risk factors. The range of economic cost estimates for each preventable risk factor included: individual dietary risk factors up to \$561m, tobacco use up to \$10.5bn, high BMI \$840m - \$14.9bn, and physical inactivity up to \$15.6bn (all costs in 2016-17 Australian dollars). The variability in results is largely due to differences in input data used and study methods (for example, choices around which costs were included). The costs of overweight, obesity and tobacco use were more commonly costed than physical inactivity.

The available evidence identified that the 4 risk factors of overweight and obesity, unhealthy diet, physical inactivity, and tobacco use represent a significant health burden for the Australian population, causing tens of thousands of premature deaths per year and years lived in poor health. Tobacco use generally represents the highest burden of disease, though the other risk factors also have a significant burden.

The included studies also identified the economic costs of these risk factors. These costs included costs to the health system, such as hospitalisations and charges to Medicare, as well as broader economic or societal costs from reduced employment, absenteeism and presenteeism.

The evidence suggests that even small changes in the prevalence of these risk factors are likely to lead to a significant reduction in the health burden for individuals and the healthcare system, as well as a reduction in economic and societal costs for communities, businesses and governments.

Review question 2

For review question 2, 72 reviews and reports were included (peer-reviewed, n=42, grey n=30). Half of the included reviews and reports looked at the benefits and outcomes from multiple primary prevention strategies. Common types of strategies examined were settings-based health promotion (particularly targeting children) and built and natural environment and transport strategies.

While many identified outcomes in the literature were health benefits (either physical, behavioural or mental health), there were also social and other outcomes that could be considered co-beneficial, including environmental benefits (such as a reduction in temperature, air pollution or carbon emissions). These other benefits could demonstrate additional value of preventive strategies. Cost-effectiveness and economic benefits of preventive interventions were also identified and included where these were reported on by the study authors; this was the case in 9 cost-effectiveness reviews.

The results of this review indicate that investing in population-wide preventive strategies at the primordial or primary prevention level will likely be beneficial for health. Most of the benefits identified in this review were health benefits, particularly physical benefits such as improving physical activity levels, improving diet, reducing or prevent tobacco use, and reducing overweight and obesity. Strategies that were particularly effective tended to be those that involved the implementation of multiple strategies, and/or were multi-component interventions implemented at different levels of the system or setting.

Some preventive strategies produced a wider range of benefits beyond health, including mental wellbeing benefits, social benefits and environmental benefits. Non-health 'co-benefits' were particularly apparent for strategies such as built environment and transport interventions.

Preventive strategies are also likely to be cost-effective and economically beneficial. Cost-effective interventions and those producing evidence of economic benefit tended to be more regulatory in nature, such as taxation, changes to the physical (built or natural) environment, food reformulation to reduce salt levels, and provision of active transport infrastructure. Tobacco taxation was highly effective and cost-effective. However, other interventions were also economically beneficial, such as obesity prevention interventions in children and mass media campaigns.

Conclusion

This review confirmed that that the 4 risk factors of overweight and obesity, unhealthy diet, physical inactivity, and tobacco use represent a significant health burden for the Australian population, causing a large proportion of preventable disease and years lived in poor health. These risk factors also contribute a significant economic burden for individuals, governments, businesses and communities, with economic cost estimates ranging from \$561m for individual dietary factors, to up to \$15.6b for physical inactivity.

The review also found that primary prevention strategies addressing overweight and obesity, unhealthy diet, physical inactivity, and tobacco use are valuable interventions for governments and communities to implement, with numerous health benefits. Some of these strategies also have multiple benefits in other non-health areas. Many of the included interventions may be highly cost-effective for governments and may generate economic benefits.

Despite a large body of literature, there are many evidence gaps remaining, particularly in terms of reporting on non-health co-benefits of prevention and collecting data for economic evaluations to demonstrate the economic benefits of prevention.

To demonstrate the full value of prevention, researchers and policymakers need to ensure they are measuring a range of health and non-health outcomes, including physical health, mental health, social, environmental and/or economic outcomes. Economic costs and benefits of preventive strategies also need to be routinely collected to enable more rigorous economic evaluations and costings of interventions. Taking a systems or complexity approach to the design, implementation and evaluation of preventive strategies may assist with developing effective interventions and identifying the full range of benefits for populations.

Purpose of this review

The purpose of this Evidence Check is to provide a summary of the evidence base on the value of prevention for the Centre for Population Health at the NSW Ministry of Health. The review builds on previous work that has considered the health and other benefits of prevention¹ and the cost-effectiveness of preventive health interventions particularly in terms of chronic disease prevention.²⁻⁵

The focus of this review is on 4 key risk factors:

- Overweight and obesity
- Unhealthy diet
- Physical inactivity
- Tobacco use and smoking.

This review summarises the health burden and economic costs of these risk factors, and identifies the relevant evidence about the health, social, economic and other benefits of population-level strategies at the primordial or primary level of prevention that protect the health of the community through reducing exposure to these risk factors.

The review will assist investigators and partners of The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre to help build a case for continued and expanded investment in prevention within and across state and territory jurisdictions as well as at a national level.

Background

What is prevention?

'Prevention' can be defined as any action taken to protect and promote the health of populations.⁶ Prevention aims to prevent poor health, illness, injury and early death from occurring, and increase the likelihood that people will stay healthy and well for as long as possible.⁷ Effective preventive actions and strategies decrease the risk of experiencing a disease, condition or injury.^{6,8} Prevention also supports people to effectively manage existing diseases or conditions so their health does not worsen.

Preventive actions and strategies can be categorised into 4 levels (**Figure 1**) though it should be noted that primordial prevention can be included as part of primary prevention.^{6,9-12} Different preventive strategies require different levels of 'agency' on the part of individuals to achieve change.¹³ For example, primordial prevention strategies tend to be population-level strategies that usually require government or community intervention to expose the whole population to health-promoting conditions and environments, such as providing fluoridated drinking water, addressing socioeconomic factors causing poor health, or providing active transport infrastructure.

Primary prevention interventions aim to change risky behaviours or risk factors before health impacts occur, such as through mass media campaigns, education, and other strategies such as vaccination. In comparison, secondary and tertiary levels of prevention require greater effort on the part of individuals and tend to be targeted at high-risk groups, such as engaging in screening for cancer (secondary prevention) or chronic disease management programs (tertiary prevention).¹²

Many preventive health strategies and interventions, particularly at the primordial or primary level, lie outside the remit of the health system and require multi-level, multi-sectoral action. Prevention therefore requires a range of individuals, communities, organisations and governments to work together in a coordinated way from different perspectives.¹⁴ A systems approach to prevention can help to respond to complex challenges such as preventing chronic disease, and can help identify which preventive interventions or strategies may be effective at promoting systems-level changes that support better health for all.¹⁵



Figure 1: Levels of prevention

Primary prevention strategies

Primary prevention strategies, which are the focus of this report, encompass a diverse range of interventions that include both population-based and individual-based interventions. For the purposes of this review, 'primary prevention strategies' include both primordial and primary levels of prevention. **Table 1** shows a summary of the types of chronic disease prevention strategies commonly defined as 'primary prevention' in the relevant public health literature.^{4,6,16}

Note that many public health and preventive interventions can involve multiple types of strategies – for example, offering an individual-level healthy lifestyle program while at the same time running a population-level mass media health promotion campaign. Similarly, while fiscal interventions usually require some type of legislative change or regulation, for the purposes of this review they have been grouped separately.

Primary prevention strategy	Examples
Regulation and policies	 Plain packaging of tobacco products Front-of-pack food labelling regulations Limitations on advertising unhealthy food and drink to children Smoke-free laws and policies Healthy canteen policies Healthy eating and physical activity guidelines
Fiscal	 Tobacco product excise Alcohol beverage excise Sugar-sweetened beverage tax Subsidies or discounts for healthy food
Social marketing and mass media campaigns	 Obesity prevention and healthy lifestyle campaigns Anti-smoking campaigns to prevent uptake of smoking and to encourage smoking cessation
Healthy lifestyle & individual behaviour change programs	 Coaching or counselling service (telephone, text-based or online) Nutrition education programs Health promotion apps Breastfeeding promotion Smoking cessation programs
Settings-based health promotion	 Healthy weight programs in maternity settings for pregnant women Physical activity and nutrition interventions in school settings, after school care or early childhood care settings Workplace sedentary behaviour interventions Embedding prevention strategies in primary and clinical care settings
Built and natural environment and transport	Active transport infrastructure such as walking and cycling pathsUrban or land-use planning and zoning changes
Behavioural economics and 'nudge'	 Portion size reductions Placement of healthier food options in supermarkets Financial incentives to influence purchasing decisions such as taxes and subsidies on food and beverage products Financial incentives to influence individual behaviour such as paying people to lose weight Making healthy choices the 'default' option on restaurant menus, meal kits and takeaway apps

Table 1: Primary prevention strategies

Methods

Review approach

An Evidence Check style of rapid review was used to identify and review the relevant peer-reviewed and grey literature evidence. Evidence Checks are an evidence synthesis method that utilises systematic searching protocols to provide a broad overview of the evidence base to assist policymakers and practitioners in evidence-informed decision making in health.^{17,18} This review was conducted following PRISMA guidelines.¹⁹

A knowledge brokering session was conducted between the commissioning agency, the Sax Institute and The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre to discuss and confirm the scope and approach of the Evidence Check. After consultation, it was agreed this review would focus on 4 risk factors of particular interest to the commissioning agency, and the relevant primary prevention strategies that address those risk factors at a population-wide level.

Review questions

Review question 1

What are the economic and health costs of high body mass, poor diet, insufficient physical activity and tobacco use?

Review question 2

What are the health, social and economic benefits of primary prevention strategies which address high body mass, poor diet, insufficient physical activity and tobacco use; and which strategies are most cost-effective?

Search strategies

Searches were undertaken of the peer-reviewed (published) literature and relevant grey literature documents. Two systematic searches were undertaken, one for each review question, using 4 scientific databases for both searches. These databases were MEDLINE, CINAHL, EconLIT and Embase. This meant that a total of 8 searches were undertaken for the peer-reviewed literature. For the grey literature, advanced searching was undertaken using Google for key government and organisational websites.

For review question 1, literature was identified that provided the attributable health burden and/or economic costs associated with one or more of the 4 risk factors in the Australian population.

For review question 2, literature was identified that reported the effectiveness of strategies and interventions addressing one or more of the 4 risk factors, including their benefits and costs. This included literature from an Australian context, as well as overseas jurisdictions similar to Australia such as New Zealand, the United Kingdom and Canada. Those strategies included 'upstream' preventive interventions occurring at the primordial or primary level of intervention which are population-wide or 'universal' in nature (i.e. as opposed to individual-level counselling or education):

- Laws, legislation, government regulation (including food reformulation or labelling), policies and guidelines
- Fiscal interventions such as taxation
- Social marketing and mass media campaigns
- Settings-based health promotion and healthy lifestyle programs
- Built environment, urban planning and active transport interventions
- Behavioural economics or 'nudge' interventions.

The search strategies undertaken can be found in **Appendix A**. A copy of the database searches can be found in **Supplementary material 1**.

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

The full inclusion and exclusion criteria can be found in Appendix B.

Due to the broad nature of the review questions and the vast body of literature pertaining to these questions, certain additional restrictions were employed to manage the feasibility of this rapid review:

- Types of studies (peer-reviewed literature)
 - Review question 1 systematic reviews
 - Review question 2 umbrella reviews (reviews of systematic reviews) and meta-syntheses (reviews of meta-analyses)
- Types of documents (grey literature)
 - o Systematic-like reviews, including rapid reviews
 - o Reports
 - o Evaluations.

Screening and data extraction

Screening process

For the peer-reviewed literature, titles and abstracts were identified and screened by two authors using EPPI-Reviewer. A full text review was then undertaken for review question 1.

Due to the substantial number of literature search results for review question 2, an additional process of prioritisation occurred after reviewing titles and abstracts, and before the completion of the full text review. This prioritisation process comprised of two authors individually reviewing each title and abstract, and allocating it to a particular thematic category. These categories were developed by EH and PC during the screening stage to facilitate identification of the most relevant studies in a short timeframe:

- Umbrella reviews
- Tobacco
- Overweight & obesity
- Diet
- Physical activity
- Multiple risk factors & general lifestyle
- Breastfeeding
- Behavioural economics, nudge, financial incentives
- Built environment
- Children, school-based, adolescents
- E-health, digital, technology, social media
- Indigenous populations
- Cost-effectiveness, economic evaluations
- Implementation barriers & enablers.

For the grey literature, titles and executive summaries were identified and screened by one author, and the final decision on inclusion or exclusion were made by EH or PH during data extraction.

Data extraction was undertaken using Microsoft Excel, with the following information for both peer-reviewed and grey literature.

Review question 1

- Author
- Year of publication
- Title of publication
- Country of publication or study
- Publication / study type
- Risk factor(s)
- Number of included studies
- Attributable health burden
- Attributable economic burden
- Mental health & other social burdens
- Evidence quality

Review question 2

- Author
- Year of publication
- Title
- Publication / study type
- Country of publication or study
- Risk factor(s)
- Primary prevention strategy
- Setting
- Health benefits
- Mental health benefits
- Social benefits
- Economic benefits (including cost-effectiveness)
- Other benefits (e.g. Environment)
- Cost-effectiveness
- Benefits for specific groups
- Evidence quality (according to authors' assessment)
- Other details, such as number of studies or reviews included.

Types of benefits

A broad range of outcomes were identified prior to data extraction and synthesis, which could be considered 'benefits' from preventive interventions that target the 4 risk factors. While a number of these outcomes are health benefits (either physical, behavioural or mental health), there are also social and other outcomes that could be considered co-beneficial, such as environmental benefits. These benefits were identified and extracted during the data extraction and synthesis processes. Cost-effectiveness and economic benefits of preventive interventions were also identified and included where these were reported on by the study authors.

Health benefits

Physical or behavioural health benefits of interventions include:

- Increase in physical activity levels
- Reduction in sedentary behaviour
- Improved dietary patterns (e.g. increased fruit and vegetable consumption; reduced sugar-sweetened beverage consumption; reduced salt consumption; reduced sugar or fat consumption; reduced consumption of energy-dense, nutrient poor foods and drinks)
- Reduction in body weight or BMI
- Reduction in waist circumference
- Reduction in cholesterol
- Reduction in prevalence of overweight and/or obesity
- Reduction in injuries.

Mental wellbeing benefits

Mental health and wellbeing benefits of interventions include:

- Improved mental or psychological wellbeing
- Reduction in mental health problems
- Reduction in levels of depression or anxiety
- Reduction in stress
- Reduction in substance misuse
- Improvements in cognitive function.

Social and other benefits

Non-health benefits include social and other benefits (some of which can also be classified as 'economic benefits' using different approaches), as well as environmental benefits:

- Improvements in health and social equity, or reduction in inequities between groups
- Improvements in safety and amenity
- Improvements in social participation
- Increased employment and education
- Improved behaviour in school
- Reduction in road traffic collisions and accidents
- Reduction in carbon emissions
- Reduction in air pollution and improvement in air quality
- Reduction in crime or violence.

Economic benefits and cost-effectiveness measures

Some studies and reports identified the economic benefits from preventive interventions. These benefits were usually identified as part of an economic evaluation, such as a cost-effectiveness analysis (CEA), cost utility analysis (CUA), cost benefit analysis (CBA), or some other type of economic evaluation or analysis.

Economic benefits were usually reported as monetary values (such as Australian or US dollars). Cost-effective measures were reported as Incremental Cost Effectiveness Ratios (ICERs), for example the cost per Quality Adjusted Life Year (QALY) gained or DALY averted.

Other additional measures of economic benefit were also included, such as healthcare cost savings, or reduction in presenteeism, absenteeism and other economic productivity measures such as years of production or income lost due to premature mortality. Other economic outcomes or benefits included macroeconomic impacts such as changes in employment and effects on Gross Domestic Product.

Evidence synthesis

On completion of data extraction, a narrative synthesis was conducted by two reviewers (EH and PC).

Quality assessment

Due to the large number of search results, the complex and heterogeneous body of literature reviewed and the review timeframe, a full quality assessment was not done for the studies. Instead, for umbrella reviews and systematic reviews, the type of quality assessment framework used and the level of quality of evidence reported by the authors was noted. For grey literature, the AACODS checklist²⁰ was used to assess the general quality of the report or document for the purpose of including the document in the review.

During data extraction stage, it was noted whether the authors had assessed the evidence quality and/or included any limitations and further information about collection, analysis and interpretation of data. This included any limitations or assumptions provided in regard to modelling and economic evaluations.

Findings

A large number of studies and documents were identified for both review questions during the searching process, including a total of 150 grey literature documents and 15,206 results for the peer-reviewed studies. After screening of titles, abstracts and full text, a total of 86 peer-reviewed studies and grey literature documents have been included in this review.

See **Appendix C** for PRISMA flow diagrams for peer-reviewed and grey literature sources for both review questions. See **Appendix D** for the full list and details of all included studies. See **Supplementary material 2** for the data tables of all studies for both review questions.

Review question 1 – health burden and economic costs

Summary of studies

14 studies were included in the review (peer-reviewed n=5, grey n=9) (**Table 2**). A summary of the main characteristics and findings of each study is available in Appendix 5.

The peer-reviewed literature encompassed 5 systematic reviews. These reviews included the health burden of the 4 risk factors – 3 of these were based on systematic reviews that included burden of disease data, as well as one involving a meta-analysis using individual participant data (looking at BMI and all-cause mortality). Two of the 5 systematic reviews looked at the economic costs associated with preventable risk factors, including overweight and obesity.

A total of 9 grey literature documents were included. Five documents were reports from non-government organisations and research institutes, 4 documents were government reports from the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare and the WA Government.

Type of study or document	No. of included studies
Government report	5
Other report	4
Systematic review	4
Systematic review and meta-analysis	1
Total	14

Table 2: Summary of type of study, review question 1

Most studies or documents looked at the health burden or economic costs of overweight or obesity, or all (or a combination) of the risk factors (**Table 3**). Four studies or documents considered the health costs of one or more risk factors – this included Australian Burden of Disease estimates²¹ and two systematic reviews.^{22,23} No study or document analysed only the health burden or economic costs associated with unhealthy diet in Australia.

Risk factor	No. of studies	Proportion of included studies
Multiple risk factors	4	29%

Risk factor	No. of studies	Proportion of included studies
Overweight and obesity	7	50%
Physical inactivity	1	7%
Tobacco use	2	14%
Total	14	100%

Table 3: Summary of risk factors, review question 1

Health burden and economic costs of risk factors

Multiple risk factors

The health burden of all 4 risk factors (overweight and obesity, unhealthy diet, physical inactivity, and tobacco use) is a substantial proportion of the preventable burden of disease in Australia. These figures have been examined in the most recent Australian Burden of Disease Study²¹ (ABoDS) from 2015, and one systematic review.²³ The economic costs of these risk factors in Australia are also significant and have been covered by one systematic review.²² Further details about each of the studies is included below.

Health burden

The 2015 Australian Burden of Disease Study outlines the fatal and non-fatal burden of disease for the Australian population, using Disability-Adjusted Life Years (DALYs)*.²¹ One DALY represents the loss of 1 year of healthy life from premature death ('years of life lost' – YLL) or living with illness ('years lived with disability' – YLD). Strong evidence of a causal association is required for a risk factor to be included in these estimates. A large proportion of Australia's disease burden is likely preventable, for example through acting on these 4 risk factors. The attributable health burden in DALYs* by risk factor includes tobacco use 9.3%; overweight & obesity 8.4%; dietary risks 7.3%; physical inactivity 2.5%. It should also be noted that these 4 risk factors are directly and indirectly related to other major risk factors, such as high blood pressure and high blood plasma glucose. Deaths attributed to each risk factor were tobacco use 20,933; dietary risks 19,876; physical inactivity 7,079; overweight & obesity 14,165. The health burden of these 4 risk factors cannot be combined due to the joint causal responsibility they share with several diseases. Approximately a third of all health burden can be attributed to all modifiable risk factors including environmental, behavioural and metabolic factors.

Crosland et al.²³ systematically reviewed studies on the health burden in Australia attributable to lifestyle risk factors. Eleven studies were included. Included studies found that approximately one-third of DALYs were attributed to all modifiable risk factors (behavioural, metabolic and environmental). The estimated range of DALYs attributed to each risk factor was diet 7.2–9.7%; tobacco 7.9–9.0%; high BMI, 5.5–8.3%; physical inactivity 1.2–5.5%. Alcohol as a risk factor for disease also had a high burden of disease, 5.1–12.2%. These estimates are similar to the ABoDS estimates.

Economic costs

In terms of the economic costs of multiple risk factors, Crosland et al.²² systematically reviewed studies on the economic costs of disease attributable to lifestyle risk factors in Australia. Twenty-five papers were included, deriving from 18 studies. The range of economic cost estimates for each preventable risk factor was diet (individual dietary risk factors) up to \$561m, tobacco use up to \$10.5bn, high BMI \$840m-\$14.9bn, and physical inactivity up

^{*} Disability-adjusted life year (DALY) is a measure commonly used in public health research to represent both premature death (years of life lost) and losses in quality of life (years lived with disability). Therefore, it represents the total health burden experienced by a population because it encapsulates both mortality and morbidity in a single measure.

to \$15.6bn (all costs in 2016–17 Australian dollars). Much of the variability in results was due to differences in input data used and study methods. Studies that placed a value on statistical life years (VSLY) arrived at higher estimates than those that did not. There are, however, some significant limitations with this data. Firstly, there is a need for updated evidence on the joint economic impact of risk factors (the most recent was from 2010). Secondly, there are major gaps in the underlying evidence, for example on dietary risk factors, and on the links between risk factors and labour force outcomes such as participation, absenteeism and presenteeism.

Overweight and obesity

This review found that the health burden and costs of overweight and obesity have been well identified in the peer-reviewed and grey literature. There are strong epidemiological links between excess body weight and many costly diseases and conditions. The overall findings were that overweight and obesity caused 14,165 deaths and 8.4% of overall health burden (DALYs) in 2015 in Australia.²⁴ Estimates of the economic burden associated with high body mass were also significant, with obesity costing the Australian economy \$8.6 billion in 2011–12.²⁵ These findings are outlined in further detail below.

Health burden

The AIHW²⁴ estimated the attributable health burden in terms of deaths and DALYs due to overweight and obesity in Australia, based on the ABDS 2011. Obese children are at a higher risk of breathing difficulties, fractures, hypertension, insulin resistance, and early markers of cardiovascular disease. Overweight and obese children are also more likely to become obese adults, and to develop chronic conditions at younger ages, including cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes. Overweight and obesity among adults increases the likelihood of developing many chronic conditions, including some cancers, cardiovascular disease, asthma, back pain and problems, chronic kidney disease, dementia, diabetes gallbladder disease, gout and osteoarthritis. The life expectancy of those with class I obesity (30.00–34.99 kg/m2) was reduced by 2–4 years, and by 8–10 years for those with class III obesity (40.00–44.99 kg/m2).

Furthermore, the AIHW²⁴ estimated a number of health inequities in Australia in regard to the burden of overweight and obesity. Compared with non-Indigenous Australians, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander adults are more likely to be overweight or obese, and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children and adolescents are more likely to be obese. Australians who live outside of major cities, or who are in the lower socioeconomic groups, are more likely to be overweight or obese than others.

In addition to the national Burden of Disease estimates for Australia, the Western Australian Government also released a report on the burden of overweight and obesity for the WA population.²⁶ In 2015, there were 1,174 deaths attributable to excess body mass, making up 8.1% of all deaths in WA. Adult males were more likely to die at a younger age (40 to 69 years) due to conditions linked with excess body mass than females, in 2015. The majority (63.9%) of deaths attributable to excess body mass in 2015 were due to ischaemic heart disease (29.9%); Alzheimer's disease and other dementias (13.1%); diabetes mellitus (11.2%); and chronic kidney disease due to diabetes mellitus, hypertension and other causes excluding glomerulonephritis (9.6%) as principal causes of death. The number of adult deaths attributable to excess body mass are projected to increase by 32% (376) in 2026 from 1,174 deaths in 2015, if current trends in overweight and obesity continue.

While not a burden of disease estimate, the NSW Ministry of Health²⁷ summarised that in 2017–18 in NSW, overweight or obese adults were 3 times more likely to report diabetes, 2.7 times more likely to report hypertension and 2 times more likely to report arthritis. There were 66,869 hospitalisations attributed to high body mass. In NSW in 2017, there were 3,758 deaths attributable to high body mass. In 2018, it was estimated that 11.1% of persons aged 16 years and over in NSW were diabetic or had high blood glucose (including both type 1 and type 2 diabetes). Between 2009 and 2018, the prevalence of diabetes increased significantly from 8.3% to 11.1%. In 2018, around 1 in 7 mothers (14.5%) who gave birth in NSW had diabetes. There was a large increase in the reported rate of gestational diabetes between 2015 and 2016.

In terms of peer-reviewed scientific literature, Di Angelantonio et al.²⁸ combined the results of 189 studies with a total of 3.9 million people (in a meta-analysis) to determine the association of BMI with death due to any reason. To limit confounding (factors not related to obesity or otherwise accounted for in the analysis) and reverse causality (people losing weight after becoming ill with a disease related to obesity), analysis was restricted to never-smokers without specific known chronic diseases at baseline and omitted the first 5 years of follow-up. For

BMI over 25.0, all-cause mortality increased approximately log-linearly with BMI. The hazard ratio per 5 BMI units over 25.0 was 1.31 (95%Cl 1.29-1.33) across all studies; in Australia/NZ studies it was 1.31 (1.27-1.35). However, for males, HR per 5 BMI units over 25.0 was 1.51 (95%Cl 1.46-1.56), compared to females' HR of 1.30 (1.26-1.33). In other words, this study found that people who are obese have a 30% greater chance of dying at any point in time compared with people who are of normal weight, and that this risk of dying increases the more obese people are.

Sanders et al.²⁹ conducted a systematic review of 47 studies on childhood overweight and obesity to determine its association with physical and psychological health comorbidities. The population group was Australian children aged 0 to 18 years. Studies with sample size greater than 1,000 showed prevalence of overweight and obesity was 19–27.6% for children 0-12 years and 13.7–26.2% for adolescents aged 12-17 years, 13-19.6% (cf. ABS estimate from 2011-12 Health Survey was 22.8-26.6% for age 2-17).

Sanders et al.²⁹ found evidence for negative effects of overweight and obesity in children on cardio-metabolic risk factors (15 studies), non-alcohol fatty liver disease (5 of 5 studies), and asthma (4 of 6 studies). Evidence for sleep apnoea was conflicting. Single studies associated overweight and obesity with a range of other conditions, though international evidence was stronger for several of these, e.g. dental health. Overweight and obesity in childhood was also associated with poorer psychological outcomes, including poorer health-related quality of life (HRQoL) (12 studies), poorer mental health (9 studies), and reduced self-esteem (4 studies). Childhood obesity also increased the risk of development of comorbidities into adulthood, such as increased blood pressure, development of metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes.

Economic costs

The economic burden to attributable to obesity in Australia was also covered by the AIHW.²⁴ In 2014–15, more than 124,600 procedures related to weight-loss surgery were billed to Medicare in public and private hospitals and in non-hospital settings. The total costs for these Medicare-billed procedures were about \$62.8 million, with about \$25.7 million in benefits paid by Medicare, and about \$37.1 million paid in out-of-pocket costs by patients and/or health insurers. These costs are only related to healthcare system costs at the level of the Australian Government; this is only a small part of costs related to obesity. Other studies apply a broader scope for the type of costs included (see Crosland et al. above and the estimates discussed over the next several paragraphs, which include the costs of obesity for state governments).

More recently, PwC²⁵ estimated that obesity cost the Australian economy \$8.6 billion in 2011–12 (in 2014–15 dollars). PwC's estimation included 'direct' costs to the health system of \$3.8 billion (such as increased hospital care and pharmaceutical costs) as well as 'indirect' costs of \$4.8 billion (such as absenteeism, presenteeism, increased government subsidies and foregone tax). PwC however did not account for further costs from reduced wellbeing and foregone earnings, noting that such costs are more challenging to quantify; PwC's costs of obesity are therefore likely to be a conservative estimate. The report estimated that, if no further action is taken to slow the rise in obesity, there will be \$87.7 billion in additional costs due to obesity over a 10-year period (2015–16 to 2024–25).

PwC²⁵ utilised the ABoDS 2003 estimates to consider the economic costs of obesity in Australia. Additional direct costs to the health system from obesity in adults totalled \$3.8 billion in 2014-15 dollars. This included \$255 million in GP services, \$125 million in allied health, \$297 million in specialist services, \$1.2 billion in hospital care, \$1.4 billion in pharmaceuticals, \$368 million in weight-loss interventions, and \$154 million in public interventions. State governments bear \$390 million of the total \$3.8 billion in direct costs. Additional indirect costs from obesity in adults (18+) in 2014–15 dollars totalled \$4.79 billion including \$477 million in absenteeism, \$544 million in presenteeism, \$323 million in government subsidies, and \$3.44 billion in foregone tax. PwC estimated a potential \$11.8 billion in foregone earnings because of individuals not employed to their full potential due to obesity. They also estimated an additional cost of \$133 million to the federal government in disability payments.

The WA burden of disease analysis also provided the economic costs of overweight and obesity to the WA economy.²⁶ In 2016, 9.3% of hospitalisations for adults and children in WA were attributable to excess body mass and cost the WA health system \$338 million (\$AUD 2015–16), or 6.1% of all hospitalisation costs. The greatest number of hospitalisations attributable to excess body mass in 2016 were for chronic kidney disease due to diabetes mellitus, glomerulonephritis, hypertension, and other causes, totalling 70,203 hospitalisations, or 70.4% of all hospitalisations attributable to excess body mass. The linked diseases responsible for the greatest hospitalisation costs attributable to excess body mass were (in decreasing order): ischaemic heart disease, obesity,

osteoarthritis of the knee, chronic kidney disease (all causes combined), gall bladder and biliary disease, and diabetes mellitus, totalling \$242.7 million or 72% of hospitalisation costs attributable to excess body mass in 2016. These are predicted to remain the costliest conditions attributable to excess body mass in 2026, whether current trends in overweight and obesity remain stable, are halted, or are reduced.

The WA report also noted that, if current trends in child and adult overweight and obesity continue, the number of hospitalisations attributable to excess body mass in 2026 is predicted to increase by 54%.²⁶ Hospitalisation costs will rise by 80%, to \$610.1 million. It should be noted that the Beswick report provides an estimate of inpatient admission costs only; costs from emergency department presentations, pharmaceutical costs, and outpatient health care costs are not included. The costs estimated in this study represent a portion of the total health system costs and do not include personal costs to individuals or costs to the community and economy, such as labour and productivity losses, so it is estimated that the costs of overweight and obesity and likely much higher than those included.

The NSW Ministry of Health²⁷ reported that, in 2008, the financial cost of obesity in Australia was estimated to be \$8.3 billion; these figures were quoted directly from an Access Economics study. Of these costs, \$3.6 billion was estimated to be related to productivity costs, \$2.0 billion related to health system costs and carer costs were in the order of \$1.9 billion. The cost of individuals' lost wellbeing was valued at \$49.9 billion, bringing the total cost of obesity to \$58.2 billion across Australia. Of this, \$19.0 billion was apportioned to NSW. The report quotes OECD estimates that overweight and obesity accounts for 8.6% of health expenditure in Australia. Obese individuals have been found to have medical costs that are approximately 30% greater than those of a healthy weight. Overweight and obesity, and related chronic diseases, also have a negative impact on the labour market and the economy through lack of employment, absenteeism and presenteeism. It is estimated that overweight and obesity lowers labour market outputs by the equivalent of 371,000 full-time workers per year.

Teager et al.³⁰ noted in their report a 17% increase in obesity rate of children and young people aged 2–17 since 2011–12 in Australia. They estimated the annual cost of late intervention in children and young people is \$1.3 billion on mental health and \$1.1 billion on physical health. Excess expenditure on mental health was included in economic estimates, which also included drug and alcohol-related expenditure and costs.

Hoque et al.³¹ reviewed studies of economic costs of underweight, overweight and obesity in adult populations in Asia-Pacific countries, finding 17 articles. Economic burden of overweight ranged from 1.5% to 9.8% of total healthcare expenditure. Among studies comparing hospital costs for normal weight to overweight and obese individuals, excess costs for overweight were 7.1% to 9.8%, and for obesity 17% to 22.3%. In an Australian study, direct costs of overweight and obesity to the health system were AUD\$10.7 billion per year in 2004–05, including hospital and ambulatory costs, pharmaceuticals and other costs. This systematic review concluded the direct cost of obesity was \$395 million and 2% of GDP (1989); the cost of obesity was 17% greater than health expenditure on normal weight individuals (2001); and the direct cost of overweight was \$6.5 billion and obesity \$14.5 billion – an excess cost of \$10.7 billion compared with the normal weight population. Indirect costs of overweight and obesity were \$21 billion (2005 study).

Tobacco use and smoking

The largest health burden associated with a modifiable risk factor in Australia is tobacco use. Tobacco use in Australia was associated with 20,933 deaths and 9.3% of the overall health burden (in terms of DALYs) in 2015.³² Even with reduced rates of smoking in the Australian population, tobacco use is estimated to cause up to AUD\$10.5 billion of economic costs per year.²²

Health burden

The AIHW³² estimated that tobacco use contributes to health burden more than any other risk factor and was responsible for 9.3% of the total burden of disease (DALYs) in Australia in 2015. Tobacco use contributed to 13% of deaths in Australia in 2015, equivalent to 20,933 deaths. Tobacco use was responsible for 14% of all fatal burden⁺

⁺ Fatal burden is the burden from dying prematurely compared to optimal life expectancy. The measure usually used to represent fatal burden is years of life lost (YLLs).

and 5% of all non-fatal burden[‡]. 43% of the burden attributable to tobacco use was due to cancer and 28% was from lung cancer. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) accounted for 30% of the burden attributable to tobacco use, with the burden higher in females (38%) than males (25%). Cardiovascular diseases were responsible for 17% of the burden due to tobacco use primarily related to coronary heart disease (10%) and stroke (3%).

According to the AIHW³² analysis, the burden from tobacco use also varied according to where a person lived, their socioeconomic group and mental health status. Age-standardised rates were higher in: the Northern Territory (2.1 times as high) than in all of Australia; the lowest socioeconomic areas (2.6 times as high) than in the highest socioeconomic areas; remote and very remote areas combined (1.8 times as high) than in major cities; people with a mental health condition (1.5 times as high) than in people without a mental health condition.

Economic costs

Whetton et al.³³ summarised that, in the 2015–16 financial year, there were 20,032 deaths from smoking-related causes and 1.7 million smoking-related hospital inpatient episodes in Australia.

The net tangible costs of smoking in 2015–16 were estimated to be \$19.2 billion (range \$16.3 billion to \$24.0 billion). The tangible costs (those that incur a financial impact) in the calculation included the reduction in economic output due to premature mortality, hospital separation costs, other medical and social care costs including the cost of informal care provided by family and friends, costs arising from workplace absenteeism and presenteeism, and spending on tobacco by dependent smokers. This broad range of costs were incurred by various actors throughout society such as Commonwealth and State/Territory governments who pay for health care costs, companies and employers who encounter reduced productivity due to people being away from work due to illness, and individuals who smoke due to the cost of the product itself and out-of-pocket costs that might be incurred in the process of seeing medical treatment.

In addition to the tangible costs of smoking, Whetton et al.³³ estimated very significant intangible costs (e.g. the value of life lost, pain and suffering), both from premature mortality and from the lost quality of life of those experiencing smoking attributable ill health. These intangible costs of smoking were estimated at \$117.7 billion in 2015–16 (range \$52.0 billion to \$375.8 billion) with the total cost of smoking being \$136.9 billion (range \$68.3 billion to \$399.7 billion). The most significant individual cost item within the tangible costs was the spending on tobacco by dependent smokers, which was estimated at \$5.5 billion, followed by workplace costs (\$5.0 billion) and the reduction in the present value of future economic output due to premature mortality (\$3.4 billion).

Physical inactivity

Physical inactivity, while not as significant a burden as overweight and obesity or tobacco use, was still associated with 7,079 deaths and 2.5% of DALYs in 2015.²¹ Physical inactivity causes up to \$15.6 billion of economic burden per year.²² Some estimates indicate it costs \$48 billion per year in indirect and direct costs.³⁴

Only 1 report looked at the health and economic costs of physical inactivity only in Australia. Barnsley et al.³⁴ analysed the ABoDS 2011 and reported that insufficient physical activity is responsible for 5% of all death and disability in Australia. Physical inactivity costs the health system \$3.7 billion and leads to death and disability costing \$48 billion per year. **Note that other estimates of the health and economic burden of physical inactivity are included in the studies of multiple risk factors specified above.**

Unhealthy diet

Unhealthy dietary risks combined contributed to 19,876 deaths and 7.3% of overall health burden (in terms of DALYs) in 2015.²¹ Other estimates were as high as 9.7% of overall health burden.²³

There were few studies that estimated the economic burden of an unhealthy diet. No report or study was identified that provided estimates of the health burden or economic costs of unhealthy diet only in Australia. **Note that other estimates of the health and economic burden of diet are included in the studies of multiple risk factors specified above.**²¹⁻²³

^{*} Non-fatal burden is the burden from living with ill-health as measured by years lived with disability (YLDs).

Review question 2 – benefits of primary prevention

Summary of studies

72 studies and reports were included in the analysis for this review question (peer-reviewed, n=42, grey n=30) (**Table 4**). A summary of the main characteristics and findings of each study is available in Appendix 6. Of the grey literature, 22 were reports or documents from Australia, 2 were international, 3 from New Zealand, 2 from the United Kingdom and 1 from the USA. The studies included were also a variety of publication types, including 29 umbrella reviews, 9 cost-effectiveness reviews, 13 reports and 7 previous Evidence Check reviews.

Publication type	No. of included studies
Book chapter	1
Evaluation	4
Report	13
Review	5
Review – Evidence Check	7
Systematic or umbrella review (Cost-effectiveness)	9
Systematic review (Indigenous populations)	4
Umbrella review	29
Total	72

Table 4: Summary of type of study, review question 2

The primary risk factor(s) targeted by the intervention or strategy were comprehensive across the 4 areas (**Table 5**). 19% of the included literature looked at one or more risk factors.

Primary risk factor targeted	No. of included studies	Proportion of included studies
Multiple risk factors	14	19%
Overweight and obesity	19	26%
Physical inactivity	15	21%
Tobacco use	11	15%
Unhealthy diet	13	18%
Total	72	100%

Table 5: Summary of risk factors, review question 2

Benefits for specific population groups

This review identified benefits of different strategies for specific population groups: children and young people; older adults; and First Nations or Indigenous peoples. The benefits for these groups are discussed under each strategy section, though a brief summary has been provided below.

Children, adolescent and young adult populations

A large number of reviews and studies summarised the benefits of interventions that targeted children and young people, including in school or early childcare settings. 18 studies looked at multiple strategies or settings-based health promotion strategies for children, adolescents and/or young adults.³⁵⁻⁵²

Over half (10/18) of these studies were focused solely on strategies to address overweight and obesity in children and young people. These studies suggested that settings-based health promotion interventions in schools were effective at producing health benefits such as a reduction in sedentary behaviour, increase in physical activity, reduction in screen time and improvement in dietary outcomes. However, there was limited or no impact in terms of reduction in weight or BMI.

A smaller number looked at tobacco and substance use (3 studies),^{43,44,50} unhealthy diet (2 studies),^{51,52} multiple risk factors (2 studies),^{35,45} and physical inactivity (1 study).⁴² These studies generally found evidence of health benefits from multi-level or multi-component interventions (i.e. interventions delivered in combination, targeting different levels of the 'system'), as well as interventions targeting both school or childcare settings and family or household settings. There is strong evidence for interventions across multiple settings that target multiple health risk factors in children, adolescents and young adults; school-based strategies can also positively impact on mental wellbeing.³⁵

Some additional benefits were also identified, such as that multi-component interventions in schools can reduce both bullying and smoking rates in adolescents.⁵⁰ The one study looking at the cost-effectiveness of physical activity interventions in children identified that the cost-effectiveness of different programs ranged from high (physical activity media campaign) to low (Walking School Bus).⁴²

Older adult populations

Two reviews considered the benefits of interventions targeting older adults. These were reviews of reviews looking at the benefits of physical activity interventions or general health promotion for older adults in the community.^{53,54} These reviews found there are physical health and mental health benefits to engaging older adults in community-based physical activity interventions, especially walking interventions.

First Nations or Indigenous populations

4 systematic reviews and 1 umbrella review focused on primary prevention strategies targeted at Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander populations in Australia^{55,56} and/or other Indigenous and First Nations groups such as Māori and Pacific Islander populations⁴¹, pregnant Indigenous women in high-income countries⁵⁷ and Indigenous populations in Canada.⁵⁸

In Australia, multiple strategies involving a range of nutrition interventions produced some health benefits for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians, such as increased fruit and vegetable consumption, reduced cholesterol and some short-term changes in BMI.^{55,56} Another study also indicated some evidence of benefit from tobacco control measures, particularly multi-component interventions (as opposed to single interventions).⁵⁹

Other studies that looked at interventions targeting Indigenous or First Nations populations from other countries found physical health benefits from multiple strategies addressing childhood obesity,⁴¹ and physical health benefits such as increased physical activity, reduced BMI and reduced blood pressure from physical activity interventions.⁵⁸ However another study noted that for nutrition interventions there is limited evidence of positive effect on dietary outcomes or childhood obesity.⁵⁷

The term 'Indigenous' or 'First Nations' are used in text to signify studies conducted in Australia, New Zealand, Canada and other nations with Indigenous populations. Where referencing studies of populations only in Australia, 'Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander' is used.

Primary prevention interventions and strategies

The types of strategies covered by the literature were diverse. In terms of types of primary prevention strategy or intervention identified in the literature, 49% encompassed multiple strategies (**Table 6**). Multiple strategies were those that reviewed several different types of primary prevention interventions or strategies. Where the review covered interventions at the secondary or tertiary level of prevention, the data extraction and synthesis focused on the primary prevention intervention findings.

Primary prevention strategy or intervention	No. of studies	Proportion of included studies
Multiple strategies	35	49%
Regulation and policies	2	3%
Fiscal	7	10%
Built environment and transport	9	12%
Settings-based health promotion	11	15%
Social marketing and mass media campaigns	2	3%
Healthy lifestyle	6	8%
Total	72	100%

Table 6: Summary of type of intervention, review question 2

Multiple strategies

Of the included literature in this report, 35 (49%) were classified as reviewing or providing evidence of effectiveness of multiple strategies to address one or more of the 4 risk factors of interest. This meant that the study looked at several types of strategies, including some or all of the strategies identified separately in this section, for example, looking at the health benefits of policies, mass media campaigns and community education to reduce dietary salt consumption. We have briefly summarised this literature here by risk factor, though more detail about strategies can also be found in the later sections.

Overall, this literature suggests that the strongest body of evidence of health benefits is for interventions across multiple settings, with multiple components, targeting one or more risk factors. Combined strategies and interventions are particularly effective for obesity prevention interventions targeting children. A small number of included studies identified other benefits to these strategies, such as mental wellbeing and social benefits.³⁵⁻³⁷

This literature also suggests that most preventive health strategies are cost-effective and have numerous economic benefits beyond health benefits. This is particularly the case for multiple strategies in tobacco control, for which the strongest evidence of cost-effectiveness is apparent, but also applies to interventions targeting physical activity, diet and obesity, with the cost savings from many of these interventions far outweighing the cost of implementation. The types of interventions that are particularly cost-effective tend to be population-wide, regulatory strategies, such as mandatory salt reduction and reformulation,

restrictions on advertising unhealthy food to children, tobacco control restrictions, and fiscal interventions such as taxation of unhealthy or harmful products like tobacco, alcohol and sugary drinks.

Multiple risk factors

Of the studies with multiple strategies 5/35 looked at the benefits of different interventions for multiple risk factors. Three of these were rapid reviews or Evidence Checks.^{35,60,61} The other 2 studies were an umbrella review on health inequalities⁶² and a systematic review of economic evaluations of public health interventions for physical activity and diet.⁶³

Pikora et al.³⁵ reviewed 119 studies looking at chronic disease prevention interventions in children and young adults. They found strong evidence for interventions conducted in multiple settings (e.g. schools, family and community) that target multiple health risk factors (e.g. nutrition education, physical activity promotion and discourage sedentary behaviours). Multi-component interventions in diet delivered across multiple settings, as well as classroom and school-based interventions to address physical activity in children, were also effective, as were school-based interventions and tobacco control interventions. They also noted other benefits to school-based and multi-component strategies, such as reductions in bullying and helping young people develop social skills and influence.

Rowbotham et al.⁶⁰ reviewed 48 studies on whole-of-population strategies for preventing chronic disease, finding the strongest evidence of health benefits included: multi-component interventions targeting dietary intake in the workplace; group-based exercise programs and self-monitoring of physical activity in the workplace and broader community; counselling and support programs for smoking cessation in the workplace and community; and support for employees to change behaviour to manage weight. There was some moderate evidence of benefit for regulation and policy approaches; taxation on SSBs and unhealthy foods; stair use prompts; smoking bans; financial incentives; social media and social marketing campaigns.

Harris et al.⁶¹ reviewed 99 studies on the effectiveness of healthy lifestyle interventions in alcohol, physical activity, diet and overweight and obesity. They found strong evidence that digital health interventions can improve physical inactivity, diet and reduce weight, while health coaching and behavioural interventions have moderate evidence of improving physical activity, diet and weight. Workplace interventions also have strong evidence of effectiveness for improving physical activity and reducing sedentary behaviour. There is moderate evidence for behavioural or community education programs improving diet and reducing weight. In addition, there is some emerging evidence that: built environment and active transport interventions can improve physical activity; and behavioural economics or nudge interventions (such as changing serving sizes) can improve diet. There was insufficient evidence of food labelling on improving dietary behaviours. The quality of evidence was moderate to high for most interventions and risk factors except alcohol.

Thomson et al.⁶² looked at 29 systematic reviews of public health policies on health inequalities in high-income countries. Their focus was on fiscal interventions such as taxation and subsidies; regulation and policy interventions; built environment and transport; and education and community programs. They found that most preventive interventions had positive impacts for health equity. However, most reviews were of low to moderate quality.

Gebreslassie et al.⁶³ reviewed economic evaluations of strategies such as mass media campaigns, active transport, pedometers, exercise referral, brief advice, fiscal incentives, retail policy, food labelling and formulation, lifestyle interventions. Their focus was on cost-effectiveness of the different strategies. They found that most public health interventions (universal or targeted) were cost-effective. The authors found that environmental interventions and mass media campaigns to promote physical activity demonstrated good value for money. They also found that 40 out of 48 universal dietary interventions were cost-effective; specifically, that taxing unhealthy food was cost-effective whereas subsidising fruit and vegetables was not. Interventions directed at food manufacturers was particularly cost-effective. Restriction of unhealthy food advertising to children was cost-effective. The majority of studies took a healthcare perspective and did not look at broader societal costs such as productivity and indirect costs.

Tobacco use

Of the included literature, 6/35 studies focused on multiple strategies targeting tobacco use and smoking. Of these, 3 were umbrella reviews of strategies, including 1 on government tobacco control policies⁶⁴ and 2 focused on young people and tobacco use.^{43,44} There was 1 systematic review of tobacco control in Indigenous populations⁵⁹ and the other 2 studies were grey literature documents reviewing the economic benefits to tobacco control strategies.^{65,66}

Hoffman et al.⁶⁴ summarised the health benefits of different approaches to tobacco control and included 59 reviews in their umbrella review, of which 38 were rated as moderate or strong level of evidence quality. These strategies included smoke-free policies, financial incentives, health warning labels, mass media campaigns and tobacco taxes. Media campaigns could reduce smoking behaviour in combination with other more regulatory interventions.

For young people and tobacco use, Mannocci et al.⁴³ reviewed 13 systematic reviews and meta-analyses on public health strategies to reduce the demand of tobacco amongst young people. Interventions shown to be effective at preventing young people from starting smoking were: school education; family-based interventions; price and tax measures. Approaches combining several interventions were more likely to be effective.

Stockings et al.⁴⁴ reviewed a significant body of literature about prevention, early intervention, harm reduction and substance use in young people. They included 414 systematic reviews, 67 of which were focused on tobacco. There were health benefits for young people from taxation, bans on advertising and public consumption bans of smoking or tobacco use. Education with skills training and cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) could also provide some benefit to young people. However, it was unclear how the quality of the reviews was assessed.

Chamberlain et al.⁵⁹ reviewed 21 systematic reviews looking at tobacco control interventions for Indigenous peoples in different countries, including tobacco price increases, mass media campaigns and smoke-free environments. The main health benefits identified were a reduction in smoking rates as well as an increase in tobacco cessation (quit) rates. They found benefits to effective tobacco control interventions that are multi-component or multi-faceted, with Indigenous leadership or collaboration and cultural awareness (e.g. tailored campaigns/programs, though other reviews suggest non-tailored messages can be as effective). Multi-faceted smoking cessation strategies were more effective than single interventions but had lower evidence of effectiveness compared to non-Indigenous populations. There were also some benefits in terms of self-efficacy and self-esteem for Indigenous school students from tobacco control interventions. However, overall there was limited evidence available about the effectiveness of tobacco control strategies in Indigenous populations, and most of the reviews were at moderate to high risk of bias.

A book chapter by Greenhalgh et al.⁶⁵ proposed that, in almost every case, tobacco control programs and policies are either cost saving or highly cost-effective. Price-based policy measures (such as increased tobacco taxes) are the most effective strategy for reducing tobacco use and its associated costs. Non-price-based measures (such as smoking restrictions in workplaces, public places, bans on tobacco advertising, and raising the legal age of smokers) have also proven to be both effective and cost saving through benefits such as a reduction in smoking prevalence, reduction in second-hand smoke, savings from smoking-related medical expenditures, heart diseases averted, costs averted by a reduction in smoking cessation legislation ranges from US\$2 to US\$112 per life year gained, while reducing smoking prevalence by up to 30%–82% in the long term (over a 50-year period). This chapter included a study that found that tobacco control interventions implemented up to the year 2000 saved the Australian economy \$8.06 billion (in 2000 dollars) and the government saved \$2 for every \$1 it spent on public health programs to reduce smoking. Another included study concluded that achieving a target of 10% prevalence by 2025 in Victoria would result in a decline in tangible costs of 14.5%, \$535 million and intangible costs associated with loss of life of \$863.4 million or 15%. Reducing smoking prevalence to 5% in Victoria would lead to a reduction in associated tangible costs of 55.6%, or \$2 billion.

Overweight and obesity

There were 12/35 studies on multiple strategies targeting overweight and obesity. This included 3 umbrella reviews,^{39,40,67} 2 cost-effectiveness systematic reviews,^{38,68} and 6 grey literature reports, reviews or evaluations.^{25,36,37,69-71} A systematic review on Indigenous populations was also identified.⁴¹

An umbrella review of 66 meta-analyses on prevention and treatment of childhood and adolescent obesity found that combined interventions addressing both diet and physical activity appeared most effective, particularly school-based interventions, which could reduce BMI and absolute body weight as well as improving diet and increasing physical activity.³⁹ Combined lifestyle interventions produced significant health benefits irrespective of age group. Nutrition education could reduce BMI in overweight and obese children. Aerobic and resistance training activities could reduce body fat percentage in children to a greater extent compared to other physical activity interventions, however may not impact on BMI or body weight.

Reilly et al.⁴⁰ performed a rapid review of 23 systematic reviews on physical activity interventions in early life, finding that health benefits were modest and short-term. Multi-component interventions (targeting physical activity, sedentary behaviour and/or diet) were most effective at reducing weight or body fat in children. Effective interventions for obesity prevention targeted multiple levels: not only individuals but also the physical, social and policy environments, such as parent involvement and interventions targeting the parents themselves.

Roberts et al.⁶⁷ reviewed 53 systematic reviews on population-wide diabetes and obesity prevention programs and performed a meta-analysis of impact on BMI. A number of health benefits were identified, including improved dietary outcomes and reduced BMI from fiscal interventions and subsidies and food labelling; and increased physical activity levels from built environment interventions, such as park and playground renovations, and stair use signage. They also found that multi-component interventions were associated with a reduction in BMI, though there was insufficient evidence of impact of any interventions on the prevalence of overweight, obesity, or type 2 diabetes.

Littlewood et al.⁴¹ found modest results of childhood obesity prevention interventions with Māori and Pacific Islander populations, with minimal benefits. Interventions and results were heterogeneous, and no study reported a significant outcome in weight-related measurements. However, some improvements were seen in cardio-metabolic outcomes.

In the grey literature, Bell et al.³⁶ conducted an evaluation of South Australia's Obesity Prevention and Lifestyle Program (OPAL), a multi-setting, multi-sectoral community-based systems-wide program designed to increase the percentage of young people aged 0-18 years in South Australia who are of a healthy weight. They found some health benefits in terms of healthy weight levels, fruit intake, physical activity and reduction in screen time, as well as improved quality of life amongst participants.

Ananthapavan et al.⁶⁹ summarised the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of 16 obesity prevention policies in Australia, including fiscal interventions; regulation and policies; labelling; settings-based health promotion; and mass media campaigns. The gain in health adjusted life years (HALYs) ranged from 237 to 471,165 years, depending on the strategy, with the most gains from a uniform volumetric tax on alcohol. They also identified the equity implications of each strategy type. Eleven of the 16 interventions resulted in dominant ICERs, meaning they are likely to result in health benefits as well as being cost saving. Those interventions with the greatest health gains were also expected to result in the greatest health care cost savings. For example, a uniform volumetric tax on alcohol was estimated to result in \$4.8 billion in health care cost savings, a sugar-sweetened beverages (SSBs) tax was estimated to result in \$1.7 billion in healthcare cost savings. The cost of implementing these interventions was far outweighed by the cost savings. The authors found a quarter (4/16) had a high or medium strength of evidence of effectiveness at reducing BMI, including 2 school-based interventions to reduce sedentary behaviour and increase physical activity. 10/16 interventions had a medium strength of evidence re: improving physical activity and/or diet. Regulatory interventions (e.g. taxes and advertising restrictions) tended to be dominant interventions, that is, producing both health and economic benefits.

Sacks et al.³⁷ looked at 89 systematic reviews and 16 additional studies on population-level strategies to support healthy weight. They found that food systems interventions (including regulation and policies, food environment interventions and pricing changes) generate improved dietary outcomes. Increasing the price of alcohol has a significant effect in terms of obesity prevention. Multi-component interventions in schools and workplaces can increase physical activity levels. School garden programs and cooking education can also improve diet in children but have no effect on BMI or weight. Financial incentives can improve physical activity levels. This review also found that workplace interventions targeting diet and physical activity can improve mental wellbeing, reduce stress and improve cognitive performance. Similarly, school gardens can improve mental wellbeing, as can classroombased sedentary behaviour and physical activity interventions. This review also identified some interventions as having evidence of cost-effectiveness, including marketing restrictions for unhealthy foods; nutrition labelling; tax on sugar-sweetened beverages; changes to physical activity; and increasing the price of alcohol. A carbon tax on food may also generate health and environmental benefits, such as improved diet and reduce carbon and greenhouse gas emissions. A Global Obesity Centre (GLOBE) et al.⁷⁰ report identified a number of different strategies to reduce obesity and increase health benefits in the Australian population, such as mandatory food labelling, an active transport strategy, public education campaigns, a 20% tax on sugar-sweetened beverages, and reformulation of discretionary foods.

PwC²⁵ recommended investment in a set of obesity prevention and treatment interventions, which could result in significant reductions in obesity prevalence and provide a net benefit of AUD\$10.3 billion over 10 years.

The Queensland Government⁷¹ summarised Cochrane reviews about childhood obesity prevention, finding that for those 0-6 years and 6-11 years, multi-component interventions are more successful in reducing BMI and body weight compared to single interventions. For 6-11 years and 12-17 years, behaviour change interventions can reduce BMI and body weight. Obesity prevention interventions and strategies can also improve children's overall quality of life.

McKinnon et al.⁶⁸ conducted a systematic review of economic analyses on obesity-related policy and environmental interventions and proposed there was a lack of CBA or CEAs of obesity-related policy and environmental interventions, though 25/27 of the included studies found that the interventions were economically beneficial. This review also identified economic benefits to built environment and transport interventions, such as reduced healthcare costs associated with cycling network and infrastructure, and light rail transit. One of the studies included in this review found that restrictions on food and beverage television advertising to children would yield \$300 million in healthcare cost savings. This review also reported a variety of population health benefits across countries and interventions.

Zanganeh et al.³⁸ conduced a systematic review of economic evaluations of childhood and adolescent obesity interventions. A total of 39 studies were included and the vast majority reported results that were cost-effective, with some illustrating cost savings results. A number of these evaluations related to the Australian context. Interventions found likely to be cost-effective were 7 physical activity promotion strategies, removing TV advertising of energy-dense nutrition-poor food and beverages (which was cost saving), and a 'be active eat well' program of both diet and physical activity. Interventions not found to be cost-effective included several programs aiming to increase physical activity including the 'walking school bus' program. However, these results may have been due to issues such as high cost of delivery. Only a small number of the included studies were categorised as poor evidence quality.

Unhealthy diet

Of the included studies, 8/35 studies considered the benefits of multiple strategies to address unhealthy diet. 3 of these were umbrella reviews,⁷²⁻⁷⁴ 2 were systematic reviews in Indigenous populations,^{56,57} 2 were cost-effectiveness systematic reviews,^{75,76} and 1 was a grey literature report on salt reduction strategies in Australia.⁷⁷

Gwynn et al.⁵⁶identified that multi-sectoral, multi-setting strategies offer greatest promise of impact or benefit for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander populations in Australia, but there is a need for better implementation and evaluation of interventions.

Ashman et al.⁵⁷ found that some dietary and nutrition strategies have evidence of improving nutrition-related outcomes for pregnant Indigenous women and their children, including breastfeeding rates, birth weight and reduction in alcohol use. There was limited evidence of programs regarding dietary outcomes, childhood obesity or other outcomes. Features of more successful programs included individual advice/support, strong community collaboration (Indigenous-led), utilising Indigenous workers, home visits, and community-based and multi-component interventions.

In the grey literature, Health Technology Analysts Pty Ltd⁷⁷in their analysis on salt reduction for The George Institute for Global Health, modelled the health and economic benefits for multiple strategies of mandatory salt reduction legislation, voluntary salt reduction, and community health programs in Australia. By reducing salt intake by 1 g/day across Australia, life years saved was estimated to be 1,364 per year, with an estimated 2,626 strokes and 2,526 CHD events avoided. They also conducted an SROI (Social Return on Investment) to estimate the economic benefits of salt reduction programs across Australia, including productivity costs and benefits (participation, presenteeism and absenteeism). SROI was found to be 2.4:1 (community program), 5.7:1 (voluntary reformulation strategies) and 10.1:1 (mandatory salt reduction). The authors estimated between \$120m-\$154m in reduced costs to society due to saved lives and strokes and avoided coronary heart disease events. The cost of different programs per person per year was \$0.49 for mandatory reduction; \$0.81 for voluntary reduction and \$1.60-\$2.37 for a community program.

Hope et al.⁷⁵ found evidence from 14 CUA studies that salt reduction interventions, particularly multiple strategies at different levels of the food system, are cost-effective and offer good value for money for population health benefit. The authors in one study estimated that a total of 610,000 DALYs would be averted over the cohort's lifetime if everyone reduced their salt intake to recommended limits. Mandating more moderate use of salt in breads, margarines and cereals produced the greatest gains in population health. The authors of the review concluded that most interventions were low cost but produce long-term improvements in population health. They found that all studies were of good, very good or excellent quality.

Schorling et al.⁷⁶also conducted a systematic review of salt reduction interventions to prevent hypertension and cardiovascular disease and included evidence from New Zealand, England, United Kingdom, Australia, Canada and European countries. The review authors concluded that 59 out of 62 scenarios were cost saving and the Incremental Cost Effectiveness Ratios (ICERs) were particularly low for taxes, salt reduction by manufacturers and product labelling. They also found that targeted (individual-level) dietary advice was not cost-effective compared with population-wide approaches.

Physical inactivity

Of the included studies, 4/35 studies focused on multiple strategies to address physical inactivity. 2 were costeffectiveness studies.^{42,78} The other 2 studies included a grey literature report⁷⁹ and an umbrella review.⁸⁰

Abu-Omar et al.⁷⁸ conducted an umbrella review of systematic reviews of cost-effectiveness analyses for physical activity interventions and found that most school-based physical activity interventions are cost-effective. Other cost-effective approaches include: the promotion of active transport (for children and adolescents), pedometer interventions and brief interventions in the healthcare setting (in adults), fall prevention (in older people), and environmental approaches and mass media campaigns (in the general population). The authors found that 14 out of the 18 included systematic reviews had high methodological quality based on a standard quality assessment tool.

Korber⁴² reviewed economic evaluations of health promotion programs for children and adolescents, which included a range of physical activity strategies. The main health benefits identified in included studies were increase in physical activity; reduction in BMI and/or waist circumference; reduction in cases of overweight and obesity; reduction in body fat; increase in energy expenditure; and increase in QALYs or DALYs. There was a wide range in cost-effectiveness results due to the varied nature of included interventions. Most studies were of good quality.

The Heart Foundation⁷⁹ identified a range of health, mental wellbeing, social and economic benefits to multiple types of strategies that promote physical activity. For example, they found associations between improvement of physical activity levels, reduction of cardiovascular diseases and type 2 diabetes from walkable neighbourhoods, green space, and active transport. Financial incentives and mass media campaigns can also assist in increasing physical activity levels. Workplace interventions, such as displaying stair signage, can be effective at reducing sedentary behaviour levels. There were also mental wellbeing benefits identified from sport and recreation interventions and participation, with children and young people particularly benefiting from reduced psychological distress due to regular participation in physical activity. The Heart Foundation's review also indicated that walkable neighbourhoods had environmental benefits, such as reduced air pollution, and active transport increases social connection and safety in the community.

Craike et al.⁸⁰ looked at physical activity interventions for low SES groups and found some positive benefits. Effects were larger in the 7 interventions targeting physical activity only compared to the 5 interventions targeting multiple behaviours including physical activity. Other high-quality reviews found no change in physical activity outcomes except for positive sport participation rates for school children. Two studies were cost-effectiveness reviews of physical activity interventions.

Regulation and policies

Two studies looked at the benefits of regulation and policies to improve health and prevent disease. One study was an evaluation of Australia's tobacco plain packaging regulation.⁸¹ The other study was an

umbrella review of physical inactivity policies.⁸² Overall, this literature indicated there are significant health and economic benefits to population-level regulatory and policy-based strategies in the area of tobacco control. There is also evidence of benefit for policies that promote greater physical activity, particularly if they are multi-level policies targeting different aspects of the system, such as implementation of active transport infrastructure combined with mass media campaigns. For the purposes of this review, regulations and policies that were fiscal in nature (such as taxation or subsidies) as well as built environment interventions requiring policy-level change, are covered in later sections.

Tobacco use

The 2016 evaluation⁸¹ of tobacco plain packaging found there were clear health benefits to the legislation. For example, the reduction in the number of smokers would save 30,318 life years if evenly distributed over the 10-year time frame from implementation, and even a 0.5% reduction in those who are estimated to take up smoking in the next year would translate to an additional 160 life years saved. There was also a decreased burden of disease projected for males and females because of current and past reduced risk factor exposure including current and past exposure to tobacco use and to second-hand smoke. Risk factor exposure decreased 11% (47,508 DALYs) over 12 years. The plain packaging evaluation also noted other benefits such as cleaner streets due to reduced smoking rates, and additional economic benefits such as a cost avoided per working smoker of \$337.48 per year and increased productivity per working quitter at an estimated \$84.37 per year. A 0.07 percentage point drop in smoking prevalence would be equivalent to \$273 million in monetised health benefits (30,318 life years saved) over 10 years.

Reviews with multiple strategies often included policy and regulatory change as a type of preventive strategy with benefits. For example, Hoffman et al.⁶⁴ found the health benefits from smoke-free policies reduced risk of admission for coronary events, other heart diseases, cerebrovascular accidents and respiratory diseases. The reductions were greatest with comprehensive policies that banned smoking in workplaces, restaurants, and bars. Workplace smoke-free policies also led to a reduction in smoking prevalence, reduced cigarette consumption by 2.2 cigarettes per day, increased quit attempts by 4.1% and increased successful cessation by 6.4%. Health warning labels decreased smoking behaviour, reduced tobacco use and increased motivation to quit, quitting likelihood and likelihood of abstinence after quitting.

Physical inactivity

Gelius et al.⁸² conducted an umbrella review of effective policies to promote physical activity and found a range of health benefits in areas such as built environment and transport policy. Policies that provide cycling and walking infrastructure (such as dedicated cycle routes and separation from traffic) can be effective at promoting physical activity. Multi-level policy interventions were effective if they promoted infrastructure improvements and were supported by mass media campaigns, increased density, mixed land use, greater connectivity, and more lighting. Road and parking price policies can have positive effects on walking and cycling levels. Policies that enable supportive infrastructure for dog walking also increases physical activity.

This umbrella review⁸² also found strong evidence for policies focusing on mass media campaigns directed at children and that social marketing messages about walking can increase physical activity. Centralised government programs can promote child physical activity, such as through school settings, which has moderate effects on physical activity. Daily mandatory PE lessons can increase students' moderate to vigorous physical activity by >20 min per day. Extracurricular physical activity before or after school increases physical activity >25 minutes per day. Outside school setting, an increase in moderate to vigorous physical activity in childcare settings was found due to open play areas and staff education and training. Promoting active transport as part of multi-component interventions can also be effective for children physical activity levels. Gelius (2020) noted very few reviews had a 'strong' level of evidence, with challenge of confounding bias for many systems or environment-level interventions for physical activity promotion.

Fiscal

Seven studies considered the benefits of fiscal preventive interventions such as taxation or excise on harmful products like tobacco, alcohol and sugar-sweetened beverages, or subsidies/incentives for healthier behaviours (including disincentives for less healthy behaviours).

The established evidence base is very strong for tobacco taxation, particularly in high-income countries. Tobacco taxation is extremely effective and cost-effective as an intervention, with significant health and economic benefits to fiscal interventions targeting tobacco.

There is also evidence that alcohol taxation is cost-effective and can help address obesity. However, there is less evidence of benefits for taxation of other products such as sugar-sweetened beverages, or of fiscal interventions and subsidies targeting physical activity.

Multiple risk factors

The Task Force on Fiscal Policy for Health⁸³ found that more than 10 million premature deaths each year could be prevented by reducing consumption of 3 products: tobacco, alcohol and sugary beverages. Taxing these 3 products is justified by strong economic arguments regarding market failures, negative externalities, and fiscal efficiency. If all countries increased taxes to raise prices by 20–50% of current levels over 50 years, for tobacco this would result in 10.8–27.2 million deaths averted and 212–535.7 million years of life gained; for alcohol 9.4–21.9 million deaths averted and 238.7–557.8 million years of life gained, and, for sugary drinks, 0.8–2.2 million deaths averted and 23.7–57.8 million years of life gained. The economic benefits of taxation were in addition to the health benefits. The same increases in taxes would result in savings of \$1.6–\$3 trillion for tobacco, \$8.9–\$16.7 trillion for alcohol and \$0.7–\$1.4 trillion for sugar-sweetened beverages. They also noted that there are other benefits to such fiscal interventions, such as improving equity. For example, large excise taxes on tobacco, alcohol and sugary beverages are essential to reaching the targets set by the Sustainable Development Goals related to ensuring healthy lives, ending poverty, and promoting full and productive employment.

Thomson et al.⁶² found that taxes on unhealthy food and drinks and food subsidy programs for low-income families were effective at reducing health inequalities in high-income countries but may not impact on weight outcomes; tobacco taxes reduced smoking rates without increasing inequalities.

Tobacco use

The World Health Organization⁸⁴ indicates that tax increases that lead to a 10% rise in retail tobacco product prices will cut consumption by 2% to 8%. Most of the health and economic benefits from reducing tobacco use accrue to the most disadvantaged social groups, who benefit the most in terms of avoiding death and disease associated with tobacco use. WHO emphasises that tobacco taxation offers a win-win, cost-effective policy option for governments, where raising tobacco taxes will both generate economic benefits (extra government revenue) and health benefits (reduced consumption of a deadly product).

The evaluation by Ernst & Young⁸⁵ of the tobacco excise increases in New Zealand found that 9 years of increasing tobacco excise by CPI+10% annually has resulted in a decrease in smoking rates across all demographic groups. The largest decline was in the proportion of youth who have ever smoked or are daily smokers; for 15–17 year-olds, the decline went from 13.7% in 2006–07 to 3.2% in 2016–17. On a per-capita basis, tobacco sales (in volumes) have fallen 44% since 2004, from 1103 to 623 cigarettes worth of tobacco per person per year. The authors predicted that continued 10% increases in the tobacco excise could reduce daily smoking prevalence to 8.7% in 2025, compared to 9.9% without any increases from 2011 onwards.

Other studies also indicated the importance of tobacco taxation. Hoffman et al.⁶⁴ demonstrated that taxes on tobacco reduced smoking behaviour, with decreases in cigarette consumption and smoking prevalence and increases in smoking cessation. Price increases appear to be most beneficial among adolescents, young adults, and low SES groups.

Overweight and obesity

In comparison to tobacco taxation, there is less robust and more mixed evidence about the benefits of taxation for other health harming products such as sugar-sweetened beverages.

Duckett et al.⁸⁶ reported that a 40c/100g of sugar excise tax would generate a drop of about 15% in consumption and likely result in a 2% decrease in the prevalence of obesity, while noting the \$500 million revenue from a sugar-sweetened beverage tax would have social or broader co-benefits (i.e. could be spent on obesity prevention programs and interventions).

Bes-Rastrollo et al.⁸⁷ found that excise taxes on sugar-sweetened beverages were associated with reduced consumption of these beverages, and that there is an inverse association between sugar-sweetened beverage taxation and weight gain or obesity, though estimate of effect is small.

Global Obesity Centre (GLOBE) et al.⁷⁰ also noted a 20% tax on sugary drinks could raise AUD\$400 million a year to be reinvested in public health and preventive programs.

Wilson et al.⁸⁸ provided evidence that a 20% sugar-sweetened beverage tax could save 12,000 DALYs and result in a small reduction of weight and BMI. Further, such a sugar-sweetened beverage tax could result in 175,300 HALYs gained over Australian population lifetime with sugar intake reducing by 11%, while other evidence indications for reductions in type 2 diabetes, stroke, cardiovascular disease, and incidence of tooth decay. The healthcare cost savings of a sugar-sweetened beverage tax could be of between AU\$609m to AU\$1,733 million. However, they noted a lack of real-world evidence showing sugar-sweetened beverage taxes have a positive impact on health outcomes. There is also a lack of strong evidence indicating there is a cost benefit from a sugar tax.

Some studies looking at the impact of multiple strategies on health also included fiscal interventions. Ananthapavan et al.⁶⁹ found volumetric alcohol taxation could assist with a reduction in population-level overweight and obesity; they also found a sugar-sweetened beverage tax had a positive benefit for equity of health outcomes, with higher health gains in the lower SES groups.

Unhealthy diet

Mounsey et al.⁸⁹ reviewed the macroeconomic impacts of diet-related fiscal policy for chronic disease prevention, finding there was no robust evidence for negative impacts (such as reduced GDP or employment levels), and there may be possible benefits in terms of potential increases in employment. However, the body of evidence was extremely limited and had quality assurance challenges in terms of industry funding of reports.

Physical inactivity

Gelius et al.⁸² found there was insufficient evidence for policies that providing subsidies to promote physical activity, and other fiscal interventions (such as congestion pricing).

Built and natural environment and transport

There were 9 studies looking at the impact of built and natural environment and transport strategies on health and other outcomes.⁹⁰⁻⁹⁸ These included interventions such as provision of green space, active transport interventions, neighbourhood changes and other modifications to the built and natural environment. Several reviews looking at multiple strategies also included built environment and transport interventions, which have been covered in this section.

Given the multiple benefits identified in this literature, the studies have been summarised and discussed based on type of benefit, rather than risk factors i.e. health, mental wellbeing, social, economic, and environmental benefits.

In summary, the literature examining the impact of strategies focused on the built and natural environment and transport suggests that there are numerous health benefits to such strategies, particularly in terms of increasing rates of physical activity, which has flow-on benefits for chronic diseases and conditions. Many built environment strategies, such as access to green space and increased neighbourhood walkability, are also associated with improved mental wellbeing outcomes.

Furthermore, these strategies are associated with several non-health co-benefits, including improved safety, reduced crime, increased social connection, reduced social isolation, and reduced carbon emissions. For economic benefits, the greatest amount of evidence is in active transport strategies such as cycling, which has evidence from Australia, the United Kingdom and Europe of significant monetised benefits.

Overall, this literature suggests that strategies targeting the built and natural environment and transport could have many health benefits as well as other types of benefits including mental wellbeing, social, environmental and economic benefits; however, more high-quality evidence is needed.

Multiple benefits

Bird et al.⁹¹ provided a comprehensive umbrella review of the evidence on built and natural environment interventions to address multiple risk factors. They identified a significant range of physical and mental health benefits, as well as social and other benefits:

- Modifying neighbourhood design was associated with reductions in BMI, risk of cardiovascular disease events, type 2 diabetes, stroke, musculoskeletal conditions, some cancers, improved mental wellbeing and reduced road traffic collisions.
- Modifying the type of housing (most through public housing interventions) was associated with improvements in asthma outcomes, reduction in mortality, reductions in falls and related injuries, reductions in health inequalities among low SES populations, improved mental health and wellbeing, reductions in substance misuse and mental disorders, and improvement in quality of life. Modifying housing was also associated with increased employment and improved safety perceptions.
- Modifying the natural environment was associated with: reduction in risk of COPD, health birth weight, reduction in myocardial infarction, reduction in infant mortality, reduction in risk of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest, reduction lung cancer, reduction in ischaemic heart disease, reduction cardiovascular disease mortality risk, reduction in obesity among adults, improved birth outcomes, improved respiratory functioning children, improved physical health outcomes, improved mental health outcomes and improved cognitive function.
- Modifying transport was associated with reductions in BMI, reductions in risk of pedestrian injury, reduction in road traffic collisions, improved cardiovascular outcomes, improved physical activity, and improved social participation among older adults.

However, the review by Bird et al.⁹¹ found the quality of the empirical evidence of the included studies was mixed as the majority relied on findings from descriptive studies, which meant only associations could be identified (rather than causal pathways).

Health benefits

The most common types of health benefits associated with built environment and transport strategies were increased physical activity, improved body weight and reduced rates of chronic disease.

The Heart Foundation⁷⁹ identified that walkable neighbourhoods, green space and trees, active transport and public transport could increase physical activity, reduce cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes, and other chronic diseases.

Mandic et al.⁹⁵ found neighbourhoods with higher walkability have a lower prevalence of diabetes and obesity. Active transport more generally is associated with improved fitness, healthy body weight, and better health outcomes, including reduced health inequalities.

van den Bosch et al.⁹⁷ reviewed the evidence for nature-based solutions (NBS) and public health. NBS broadly included 'green infrastructure' interventions, such as provision of green spaces (such as parks and forests), ecosystem restoration, greening of areas and building surfaces, and climate change mitigation and adaptation measures (such as planting more trees and constructing wetlands or providing more 'blue space'). The authors found inconsistent to weak associations of NBS with increases in physical activity, though some positive association with reduced obesity (but evidence is weak or inconsistent). In comparison, there was moderate to strong evidence for positive association between green spaces and all-cause and cardiovascular disease mortality (but none for lung cancer).

Bowen et al.⁹² found that proximity to green space increased likelihood of physical activity, and higher levels of green space access were associated with reduced BMI in children. Chronic disease and diabetes were also lower in regular park users, and some evidence of reduced mortality due to respiratory and cardiovascular disease with green space access.

Frontier Economics⁹³ noted that greater access to green space is likely to increase physical activity by 5% to 20% across the Australian population.

Other umbrella reviews, such as Thomson et al.⁶² indicated that built environment and transport interventions such as cycling infrastructure could reduce traffic injuries, and 20mph speed zones reduced road casualties.

Gouldson et al.⁹⁴ estimated that the value of health benefits from investments in cycling infrastructure can amount to more than 5 times the investment needs, while the health benefits from cycling could be worth US\$35-136

billion in health benefits per year in Europe. They also noted that where public transport networks are well developed, transport-related injuries are more than 80% lower.

A review of the ride to work scheme in the United Kingdom⁹⁶ found that active transport can: increase levels of physical activity; reduce the incidence of type 2 diabetes and lower mortality rates amongst those already with type 2 diabetes; reduce obesity rates; and reduce rates of colon cancer. 86% of users in the cycle to work scheme said they had gained health benefits including improved fitness, weight loss, reduction in stress and improved asthma. Less evidence about benefits of cycling on cardiovascular disease outcomes, though active commuting significantly reduces risk of cardiovascular disease events for women.

However, there are significant challenges in identifying the causal pathways between different nature-based interventions and health outcomes; there is some evidence for effects, but not enough information known about size of effect and dose-response.⁹⁷

Mental wellbeing benefits

Mental wellbeing benefits from built environment and transport interventions were also apparent in the literature. van den Bosch et al.⁹⁷ found evidence for positive impact on emotional wellbeing and stress from NBS, though mixed evidence for access to green space for mental health.

Astell-Burt et al.⁹⁰ identified evidence that access to green space, walkability and amenity of neighbourhoods can have a positive impact on psychological distress levels, but this could be influenced by socioeconomic disadvantage. There was a lower risk of psychological distress for people >45 years who had green space within 1 km of the home address.

Bowen et al.⁹² found that stress reduced with exposure to natural environments and forests with a 3km radius effect and there was improved emotional wellbeing from green space access. The study found decreased anxiety and improved cognition for exposure to nature and improvement in depression for women based on closeness to green space and park usage.

Other findings include that Australians accessing greenspace for 30 minutes or more during a week could reduce the population prevalence of depression and high blood pressure by up to 7% and 9% respectively.⁹³ Active transport could also help children and young people experience improved mental wellbeing and behaviour through more physical activity, and increased self-esteem.⁹⁵

Again, the level of evidence associated with these types of interventions is mixed. Astell-Burt et al.⁹⁰ noted that while wellbeing is linked to neighbourhoods with lots of green space and high walkability, the quality of green space is poorly defined and there is no standardised measurement of which components provide what type of health benefit. There is a need for higher quality evidence from longitudinal studies, clearly defined built environment indicators, and use of geospatial mapping.

Social benefits

For social benefits, Astell-Burt et al.⁹⁰ found 3 built environment indicators (green space, amenity, and walkability) are associated with higher levels of social capital or cohesion. Local built environment, such as neighbourhood deterioration, can have an impact of levels of local crime, which can improve sense of safety, amenity and increase wellbeing.

Bowen et al.⁹² found that exposure to natural settings after school and on the weekend can reduce ADHD symptoms in children; and that exposure to natural environments increases in children's confidence and self-esteem. Interventions such as community gardens can also reduce loneliness and increase social support, while outdoor public spaces can improve social cohesion and social interaction in public housing areas. Green infrastructure can reduce vandalism, violence, and crime, and improve safety.

There were also equity benefits identified in some built environment and transport interventions, such as active transport provision, which can improve access to employment and education; active transport can facilitate social interactions with peers, help to build connection, and improve neighbourhood safety and security.⁹⁵ Safer neighbourhoods promote more walking, and active transport can increase equity while also increasing social connections in the community.⁷⁹

It should be noted there are significant limitations with this body of evidence, given that these types of benefits tended to be poorly defined, and the identified relationship between the strategies and outcomes is associational (rather than causal).

Economic benefits

For the economic benefits associated with built environment and transport strategies, the main types of benefits identified in this review were monetised benefits associated with green spaces and active transport infrastructure. There is a reasonable amount of evidence in this area.

Bowen et al.⁹² found evidence of potential savings due to provision of urban parks in the United Kingdom. This was estimated to be £1.6m–8.7m per annum, including savings to the National Health Service (NHS) of £0.3m–1.8m per annum. Economic benefits of footpaths in United Kingdom were estimated at up to £1m per annum. If green space reduced physical inactivity by 1%, this would result in £1.44 billion savings per annum. Estimated reduction in the number deaths and cases of chronic heart disease, stroke and colon cancer could result in approximately £1.05 billion, £299 million, and £98 million respectively in healthcare savings each year. Investment in 12 community forests resulted in £122,000 per annum economic benefits, and reduction in air pollution levels of £116,000 per annum. Evidence from Belgium also identified the annual economic health value of a cycling project was 47,041 Euros, while in the United States, healthcare savings for residents in 11 cities due to parks and recreation spaces was US\$4.3m–\$90.2m.

In Australia, Frontier Economics⁹³ estimated that reduced mortality and morbidity attributable to increase in physical activity can results in improved economic outcomes (productivity benefits and reduction in healthcare expenditure). They analysed 3 case studies using a Cost of Illness (CoI) approach and a Willingness to Pay (WTP) approach, finding that the total benefits for large-scale greenfield development with water infrastructure was \$141m per population (CoI) and \$723m (WTP). This suggests there are health and economic benefits for water-based infrastructure.

Swift et al.⁹⁶ found that in the United Kingdom, an increase of cycling to 10% by 2025 and 25% by 2050 would result in £42 billion per annum of cumulative benefits. Doubling the number of cycling trips in 10 years would result in annual net benefits of £6.4 billion by 2050 and BCR 5.5:1. BCR of investing in cycling and walking is 13:1 to 19:1. Average cost benefit ratio of cycling initiatives across 12 sites in the United Kingdom was 5.9:1. This report also identified that investments in cycling in the United States in the range of USD\$138 to \$605 million will result in healthcare cost savings of \$388 to \$594 million, fuel savings of \$143 to \$218 million, and savings in value of statistical lives of \$7 to \$12 billion. Generating an additional 9,200 cyclists a year through cycle to work schemes would amount to £72 million in benefits.

Zapata-Diomedi et al.⁹⁸ in their Evidence Check rapid review found the monetary value of the health-related benefits associated with each additional kilometre walked varied between AUD\$1.04 and \$2.08 in Australia. The monetary value of health-related benefits attributable to an additional kilometre cycled ranged from less than \$0.02 to \$1.12. Economic outcomes were found to be greatest for increasing destinations within the neighbourhood, which are associated with health-related benefits worth an average \$14.65 per adult annually (range \$0.42 to \$42.50), depending on destination and context. The health-related economic benefits of changes in urban form are modest at an individual level, but at a population level these figures are significant.

Environmental benefits

In terms of other benefits such as environmental benefits, the level of evidence was identified as being stronger than many of the health or social benefits, perhaps due to a clearer causal link between environmental outcomes and built environment or transport interventions.

van den Bosch et al.⁹⁷ found moderate to strong evidence for the impact of NBS on heat and temperature, and moderate evidence moderate evidence that vegetation can reduce negative perception of noise.

Mandic et al.⁹⁵ found that active transport interventions and strategies resulted in a positive reduction in air pollution and emissions while also increasing physical activity levels. National Heart Foundation of Australia⁷⁹ also found that walkable neighbourhoods were associated with a reduction in air pollution.

Bowen et al.⁹² identified a strong body of evidence that green infrastructure assists with adaptation due to climate change, such as heat and air quality, with flow-on benefits for health.

Frontier Economics⁹³ similarly noted that improved access to green spaces and waterways could increase physical health due to more active recreation, reduction in temperatures and heat, and lower air pollution.

Settings-based health promotion

11 studies reviewed or evaluated the benefits of settings-based health promotion interventions, programs, or strategies. These are programs run within specific settings, such as school, early childhood or childcare, and maternity services. 6 of these studies were focused on school settings,⁴⁶⁻⁵¹ with another 2 focused on childcare settings.^{45,52} 2 were reviews on workplace interventions^{99,100} and only 1 review was in maternity settings.¹⁰¹

This literature suggests that multi-component, multi-level interventions tend to be more effective compared to single interventions in deriving health benefits for different populations, such as reduced BMI, improved diet, and a reduction in sedentary behaviour. These interventions may also have other non-health benefits; however few studies included such benefits. These interventions were generally not reviewed using economic evaluations or cost-effectiveness data.

School settings

For school-based health promotion interventions, 4/6 of these focused on overweight and obesity in children. These reviews noted the mixed evidence of benefit when only looking at weight-related health benefits.

Cauchi et al.⁴⁸ included 63 systematic reviews of childhood obesity prevention interventions and identified several interventions likely to be effective in preventing or reducing overweight and obesity in children (especially if part of long-term comprehensive efforts). These interventions included: increased physical activity sessions; purchase of PE equipment; improvements in nutritional quality of the food supply in schools; creation of environments and cultural practices that support consumption of healthier food at home; and capacity building or professional development for teachers to implement health promotion strategies and activities. The review also found the most consistently successful strategies for children in schools were those targeting sedentary behaviour. However, 84% of the included reviews were either low or medium quality in terms of evidence.

Goldthorpe et al.⁴⁹ in their umbrella review of 10 systematic reviews also found a range of health benefits from school-based obesity prevention interventions in children. These benefits included a small reduction in BMI, reduction in screen time and sedentary behaviour, reduction in sugar consumption and overall energy intake, improvement in fruit and vegetable consumption, and some small effects on behavioural and cognitive outcomes for children. Experiential learning, such as gardening and cooking classes, also produced a moderate effect size and benefit on dietary habits of school students.

Toumbourou et al.⁴⁶ in their Evidence Check review on healthy lifestyle choices in children identified that schoolbased obesity prevention had significant health benefits such as increased physical activity and improved diet, though effect sizes for weight change/BMI reduction were small. Multi-setting and multi-component obesity prevention interventions had larger effect sizes e.g. combined diet and physical activity components of interventions in the school, home, and broader community. They also found a greater health benefits for 0–5 yearolds and 5–12 year-olds compared to 13–18 year-olds, and greater benefits from obesity prevention programs running for 1–4 years.

Amini et al.⁴⁷ found that school-based obesity prevention interventions have mixed effectiveness on reducing BMI or other weight-related outcomes. Multi-component interventions which target both nutrition and physical activity behaviours in children will have health benefits compared to other interventions but may not always reduce weight or adiposity. Non-targeted, primary prevention interventions are more effective and target a greater number of students but may be less effective for high-risk students.

The other 2 studies for school-based health promotion included an evaluation report from the WA School Breakfast and Nutrition Education Program⁵¹ and an umbrella review of school-based interventions to promote adolescent health.⁵⁰

The evaluation by Byrne et al.⁵¹ looked at the impact of a state-wide school breakfast program in terms of improving diet of school students in Western Australia. They found positive benefit for students' attitudes and knowledge about healthy food and nutrition, for both primary and secondary school students. In addition to this,

the evaluation identified several positive social and other benefits, such as a positive influence on readiness for learning, task concentration, attendance, punctuality, productivity and social skills. The program also contributed to positive relationships between staff, students and community; increased connection to the school; and students' sense of calmness and improved behaviour benefits (e.g. less antisocial behaviour) contributing to a positive 'tone' in the school. Importantly, this program had benefits for equity as it targeted vulnerable youth and students at educational risk due to a range of factors including poverty.

The umbrella review by Shackleton et al.⁵⁰ looked at 30 reviews, the majority of which were low to medium quality. The health benefits identified in their review included a reduction in smoking rates amongst adolescents for multicomponent school interventions and multi-sectoral interventions targeting both school environment and family/home environment. They also found that, while single interventions focused on tobacco as well as multiple risk behaviour interventions can reduce smoking, the former were less effective at preventing smoking initiation. There were additional benefits to multi-component interventions that addressed violence and substance use, as they reduced both bullying rates as well as smoking rates amongst adolescents.

Childcare and early childhood settings

Two reviews looked at childcare-based health promotion interventions for young children.

Stacey et al.⁴⁵ analysed the results of 22 systematic reviews on childcare policies and practices for diet and physical activity. They found the highest level of evidence of benefit was for physical activity interventions, including modifying physical environment to promote structured physical activity and providing staff training to promote children's physical activity. There was a mixed level of evidence of benefit for dietary interventions in childcare settings, including parental nutrition interventions and changing childcare nutrition policies to improve diet. Only 2/22 systematic reviews were identified as having a high level of evidence quality.

Matwiejczyk et al.⁵² reviewed 12 systematic reviews on effective interventions to promote healthy eating in childcare settings. They found that most reviews of dietary intake in childcare settings found some level of improvement, such as increased fruit and vegetable intake in children. However, reviews of obesity prevention interventions report mixed or non-significant results. Stronger evidence of benefit was associated with multi-level or multi-component interventions, interventions addressing physical activity, and engaged parents.

In other reviews looking at multiple strategies, Reilly et al.⁴⁰ also identified that childcare centre-based intervention targeting physical activity and screen time can reduce BMI in young children; furthermore, improving fundamental movement skills in childcare and early education settings can increase physical activity and reduce BMI.

Workplace settings

Two umbrella reviews looked at the impact of workplace health promotion interventions on health outcomes.

Proper et al.⁹⁹ reviewed 23 systematic reviews. Most reviews were of low quality. Workplace interventions targeting physical activity and/or diet can result in health benefits such as reduced body weight, BMI, waist circumference or body fat, though effect sizes were modest. Workplace interventions may also be effective at preventing type 2 diabetes and reducing cardiovascular disease risk factors; however benefits were more inconsistent compared to weight-related outcomes. Workplace interventions involving resistance training can prevent musculoskeletal disorders, and active transport and exercise training can promote physical activity and fitness in the workplace (but may not affect obesity rates). Furthermore, this review identified some mental wellbeing benefits from workplace interventions, such as e-health and CBT strategies (prevention of mental illness), and physical activity interventions can improve depression outcomes for workers.

White et al.¹⁰⁰ focused on physical activity and exercise interventions in the workplace, synthesising the findings of 18 systematic reviews. Their primary outcomes of focus were work-related outcomes. As a result, they identified several benefits including that simple physical activity interventions have a positive effect on work absence rates, and that for general workers, short or simple fitness programs can provide similar benefit to more complex ones. They also found for general workers that physical activity interventions reduced both sick leave and workplace absence, but benefits for workplace productivity were extremely limited, as were financial benefits. The quality of the evidence and lack of high-quality randomised controlled trials was also noted.

Maternity settings

Only 1 review was included for maternity setting interventions targeting healthy mothers on health-related behaviours.

Bell et al.¹⁰¹ found that 2 programs showed a reduction in maternal smoking; other programs showed a decreasing trend or improved reporting of smoking, as well as a reduction in alcohol consumption and improvement in breastfeeding rates at 6 months. Integrated maternity services demonstrated evidence of benefit in a reduction in low birthweight and preterm birth. In addition, this review identified child development benefits from a small number of maternity programs.

Bell et al.¹⁰¹ also included 3 programs that had been evaluated in terms of their cost-effectiveness, which showed a trend towards cost savings. One program targeting disadvantages families found a net benefit to the economy of AUD\$3.1 million, equivalent to a benefit cost ratio of approximately 1.2. Coordinated and integrated maternity care programs showed a consistent cost saving effect of at least \$2 for every \$1 spent, either in return on investment or compared with comparison group. Midwifery-led continuity of care indicated a cost-saving effect. However, no costs were provided specific to risk factors, and, overall, the authors did not make a formal assessment of evidence quality.

Social marketing and mass media campaigns

Only 2 studies focused solely on reviewing the effectiveness or cost-effectiveness of mass media campaigns and social marketing interventions.^{102,103} Some studies looking at multiple strategies also reviewed the impact of these strategies.

In summary, this evidence suggests that social marketing and mass media campaigns can have health benefits such as addressing tobacco use and physical activity. There is much less evidence for other behaviours such as improving diet or reducing or preventing obesity. The literature on multiple strategies also suggests mass media campaigns can be complementary to other types of interventions and strategies and enhance implementation and effectiveness.

Mass media campaigns also have evidence of economic benefits in terms of being cost-effective and providing good value for money. However, wider non-health benefits to such campaigns are not generally included in evaluations or reviews.

Multiple risk factors

Stead et al.¹⁰² provided an extensive umbrella review that included 4 reviews of reviews on different topics in public health. Review A found that mass media campaigns can reduce sedentary behaviour and contribute to smoking cessation. The largest quantity of evidence is for campaigns that address tobacco use and physical activity levels, with much less evidence for campaigns to change dietary or drinking behaviours. Review C found that mass media campaigns can be cost-effective for tobacco control, however, evidence on cost-effectiveness was extremely limited for all health topics except smoking, with most of the evidence from the United Kingdom and United States.

Tobacco use

Atusingwize et al.¹⁰³ identified numerous health benefits from tobacco control mass media campaigns, such as reductions in smoking, uptake of cessation, reductions in rates of lung cancer, and stroke. QALYs gained from tobacco control mass media campaigns ranged from 178,290 to 407,000. In one study, LYs gained were 323,000, with another study suggesting 55,000 deaths were averted from a tobacco control campaign. All 10 studies in this review found the cost-effectiveness of evaluated campaigns to be favourable and that they offer good value for money. For example, one of the included studies found \$740 million in healthcare cost savings due to the Australian National Tobacco Campaign. However, this review indicated that interventions were often poorly described in terms of campaign content and intensity, and cost information was frequently inadequate; such gaps in the evidence mean evaluating the benefits of campaigns is difficult.

Other risk factors

Several reviews looking at multiple strategies included mass media campaigns. These reviews suggested that campaigns complemented other types of strategies (such as more regulatory strategies). Examples given included mass media campaigns about physical activity to support changes in the built environment⁸² and campaigns about smoking in combination with other tobacco control interventions.⁶⁴ Some of these studies also found that mass media campaigns can be cost-effective for increasing physical activity levels.^{63,78,79,82} Korber⁴² found that mass
media campaigns for health promotion in children and young people represent good value for money and are the least costly out of all the interventions they compared.

In the included literature for this review, there is a more limited body of evidence of health benefits from campaigns regarding diet⁷² or obesity.^{37,62} Other studies suggested that mass media campaigns may not have direct benefit on health behaviours, but can have benefit in other ways, such as increasing knowledge about health behaviours and promoting a sense of self-efficacy and self-esteem; these benefits may be important for effective implementation of campaigns, particularly in groups such as Indigenous people.⁵⁹ It should also be noted that education and campaigns for health behaviours have little impact on reducing health inequities, and may inadvertently benefit higher socioeconomic groups.⁶²

Healthy lifestyle

Included in this category were healthy lifestyle and individual behaviour change programs offered universally or at scale to the general population or specific high-risk groups, rather than to people already experiencing ill health (such as people with type 2 diabetes). These programs included mobile technology interventions ('mHealth'),^{104,105} lifestyle interventions for older persons,^{53,54} and some healthy lifestyle interventions targeting Indigenous populations.^{55,58}

The evidence on the cost-effectiveness and benefits of healthy lifestyle and individual behaviour change indicates they can provide a range of health benefits including improved diet, increased physical activity, weight loss and smoking cessation.

Physical activity-based lifestyle interventions also have evidence of other types of benefits, such as mental wellbeing benefits and improved social connections with others, particularly for older populations.

However, no cost-effectiveness information was available from the included literature.

Multiple risk factors

An umbrella review¹⁰⁴ of 44 systematic reviews found that mobile technologies (mHealth) offer positive benefits for weight management (weight loss; reduction in BMI) and increase in physical activity. Some evidence of benefit of mobile technologies included improving fruit and vegetable intake, and reducing consumption of sugar, fat, and energy-dense foods. However, they noted inconsistent terminology and definitions for technology-based interventions, and a weak body of evidence for Web 2.0 interventions compared to mHealth.

Hall et al.¹⁰⁵ also looked at 15 mHealth systematic reviews, specifically interventions involving mobile text messaging for chronic disease prevention. A third of the studies found text messaging to have a positive benefit for health outcomes and behaviours including smoking cessation, physical activity, weight loss and a reduction in blood pressure. A meta-analysis of 5 studies with 9,100 participants found mHealth interventions increased long-term smoking cessation rates compared with control programs.

Other studies that reviewed multiple strategies included some healthy lifestyle interventions for multiple risk factors. Harris et al.⁶¹ reviewed the effectiveness of healthy lifestyle interventions to prevent or reduce cancer found a strong level of evidence that digital health interventions, such as providing motivational information and individualised tailoring and feedback, can improve physical activity, diet, and weight. Health coaching and behavioural interventions can also modify physical activity, diet, and weight, as can behavioural or community education programs, though this evidence was of moderate quality.

Physical inactivity

For older adult groups, Zubala et al.⁵³ reviewed systematic reviews that promoted physical activity interventions for older adults in the community. They found that all reviews reported positive effects for physical activity. The largest effect was for walking interventions, with sustained effects beyond 6 months. Multi-modal and multi-component interventions can increase physical activity levels of older adults in the community and walking interventions seemed to be particularly beneficial in this group. This review also identified mental wellbeing benefits for physical activity interventions in this group, including psychological outcomes such as self-efficacy, quality of life and improved depressive symptoms, though noting that benefits of interventions in terms of psychological wellbeing may be identifiable in the longer term (e.g. 6 or 12 months) rather than the short-term. It suggested that physical activity interventions have dual benefits for older adults in terms of promoting both increased physical activity as

well as mental wellbeing, with positive effects found for multi-modal interventions. But self-reported physical activity measurements and other factors meant only a small number of reviews had a low risk of bias.

Comans et al.⁵⁴ in their Evidence Check review on health promotion for older adults also identified that some evidence that physical activity and exercise interventions can improve older people's physical performance (i.e. measures of physical fitness and ability to do certain physical activities) and improve cognitive function in older adults >70 years. There were also social benefits to group activities with or without physical activity.

Pelletier et al.⁵⁸also reviewed physical activity interventions to improve physical fitness and health outcomes among Indigenous adults living in Canada. They found an increase in physical activity from 2 interventions, while other benefits included a reduction in waist circumference following a walking intervention, and decreased blood pressure from a walking intervention and mixed exercise program. Again, quality of evidence was weak-moderate, with no RCTs and problems with using unvalidated and/or self-reported tools to collect data.

Unhealthy diet

Browne et al.⁵⁵ looked at food and nutrition lifestyle programs for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians. Cooking skills workshops, group education sessions and store interventions had the greatest impact on producing improvements in chronic disease risk factors (e.g. cholesterol levels, triglycerides, blood pressure, weight, waist, HbA1c, blood glucose). Community involvement in program design was strongly associated with a positive effect on BMI. Other key factors included community involvement in implementation, the involvement of an Aboriginal health worker, and environmental changes. Food and nutrition programs that are initiated and designed by local Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people were most likely to have health benefits.

Behavioural economics and 'nudge'

While no umbrella reviews or other studies were identified that looked only at the benefits of behavioural economics or 'nudge' interventions, some of these strategies were included in reviews that considered the impact of multiple strategies.

This evidence suggests there are some health benefits from small-scale changes to 'nudge' people to healthier choices such as quitting smoking, choosing healthier food options or taking the stairs at work, however the body of literature is limited.

It should also be noted that while fiscal intervention such as taxes and subsidies can be considered a type of behavioural economic intervention, these are detailed in an earlier section.

Tobacco use

Hoffman et al.⁶⁴ found that offering financial incentives to smokers to quit had health benefits in terms of smoking cessation. In pregnant women, financial incentives increased smoking cessation and were the most important component of multi-component programs that promote cessation.

Multiple risk factors

Sacks et al.³⁷ suggested that financial incentives have some evidence for weight loss, improving diet and physical activity levels.

Unhealthy diet

Harris et al.⁶¹ identified some emerging evidence that behavioural economics or nudge interventions such as changing serving size of foods positively impact on diet. Perez-Cueto⁷⁴ noted that nudges within the food environment can improve diet quality.

Physical inactivity

Other 'nudge' interventions included stair signage and point-of-choice prompts, which had moderate level of effectiveness of benefit to reduce sedentary behaviour and increase physical activity.^{60,67} National Heart Foundation of Australia⁷⁹ also identified that stair signage in workplaces can be low cost and effective at reducing sedentary behaviour.

Discussion and conclusions

This review summarises the health burden and costs of 4 risk factors, and identifies which interventions and strategies may provide health, social, economic, and other benefits. The review was based on umbrella reviews, systematic reviews, and similar types of high-level grey literature syntheses. The review was guided by 2 research questions. A summary of the evidence and the resulting implications for further research are provided below.

Summary of evidence

Review question 1: What are the economic and health costs of high body mass, poor diet, insufficient physical activity, and tobacco use?

The available evidence identified that the 4 risk factors of physical inactivity, overweight and obesity, tobacco use and unhealthy diet represent a significant health burden for the Australian population, causing tens of thousands of premature deaths per year and years lived in poor health. Tobacco use generally represents the highest burden of disease, though the other risk factors also have a significant burden.

The included studies also identified the economic costs of these risk factors. These costs included costs to the health system, such as hospitalisations and charges to Medicare, as well as broader economic or societal costs from reduced employment, absenteeism and presenteeism.

The evidence suggests that even small changes in the prevalence of these risk factors are likely to lead to a significant reduction in the health burden for individuals and the healthcare system, as well as a reduction in economic and societal costs for communities, businesses, and governments.

Reduction and prevention of these risk factors is of critical importance for both health and economic reasons. Healthcare expenditure spent on preventable disease represents an opportunity cost of money that could be spent elsewhere in the healthcare sector. Similarly, the years of productive life lost in individuals due to premature death or retirement from the workforce are years lost that represent an opportunity cost to the whole of society, which could otherwise be directed towards boosting productivity and the output of the Australian economy.

Health costs (health burden)

The 4 risk factors of interest for this review represent a substantial proportion of the preventable disease burden in Australia. Though the attributable health burden by DALYs did vary across the risk factors, tobacco use generates the highest amount of burden (up to 9.3%), while the other risk factors also generate a high amount of health burden: overweight and obesity/high BMI (up to 8.4%); unhealthy diet (up to 9.7%); and physical inactivity (up to 5.5%).

The health burden of overweight and obesity was well identified in the included literature. There were many links and associations identified between high body mass and chronic diseases and conditions, including several different cancers. This increases the overall burden of disease for the risk factor.

Economic costs

In addition to the health burden, there were substantial economic costs associated with these 4 risk factors. The range of economic cost estimates (in 2017 Australian dollars) for each risk factor were: individual dietary risk factors (up to \$561m); tobacco use (up to \$10.5bn); high BMI (\$840m-\$14.9bn); and physical inactivity (up to \$15.6bn).

The costs of overweight, obesity and tobacco use were more commonly costed than physical inactivity or diet. The economic costs of overweight and obesity were significant because of the cost to the healthcare system (such as through an increase in hospitalisations, pharmaceuticals, and Medicare) as well as broader costs to the economy from an increase in absenteeism and presenteeism.

Review question 2: What are the health, social and economic benefits of primary prevention strategies which address high body mass, poor diet, insufficient physical activity and tobacco use; and which strategies are most cost-effective?

The results of this review indicate that investing in population-wide preventive strategies at the primordial or primary prevention level will likely be beneficial for health. Most of the benefits identified in this review were health benefits, particularly physical benefits such as improving physical activity levels, improving diet, reducing or preventing tobacco use, and reducing overweight and obesity. Strategies that were particularly effective tended to be those that involved the implementation of multiple strategies, and/or were multi-component interventions at different levels of the system or setting.

Some preventive strategies produced a wider range of benefits beyond health, including mental wellbeing benefits, social benefits and environmental benefits. Non-health 'co-benefits' were particularly apparent for strategies such as built or natural environment and transport interventions.

Preventive strategies are also likely to be cost-effective and economically beneficial. Cost-effective interventions and those producing evidence of economic benefit tended to be more regulatory in nature, such as taxation, changes to the physical (built or natural) environment, food reformulation to reduce salt levels, and provision of active transport infrastructure. Tobacco taxation was considered to be highly effective and cost-effective. However other interventions were also economically beneficial, such as obesity prevention interventions in children, and mass media campaigns.

Health benefits (including mental wellbeing benefits)

The types of health benefits identified in this literature included improvements physical health, such as increases in physical activity levels, reduction in obesity prevalence or BMI, and improvement in diet quality (such as increased fruit and vegetable consumption or decrease in less healthy foods). Mental wellbeing benefits included a reduction in psychological distress, reduced stress, prevention of mental illness, improvement in self-esteem, and higher scores in quality of life.

The greatest amount of evidence for health benefits was for interventions that considered the effects of multiple strategies for multiple risk factors. Many of the umbrella reviews considered the benefits of a range of different strategies that target different mechanisms and casual pathways. Combining multiple strategies and approaches reflects the complexity of chronic disease and demonstrates that successful preventive action is needed across multiple levels and sectors of the system.

Tobacco control interventions particularly demonstrated health benefits, usually defined as reduction in smoking rates. These interventions included regulation and policies (e.g. smoking bans), fiscal interventions such as tobacco excise, mass media campaigns, and healthy lifestyle programs to promote smoking cessation. Given the significant health burden of tobacco use, investing in tobacco control at the primary prevention level, such as stopping people (especially children and young people) from taking up smoking, is one of the most effective public health strategies with a very strong body of evidence of health benefit.

There was also evidence of health benefits from multiple strategies targeting several different settings and behaviours at once. Obesity prevention strategies in schools were commonly identified in the literature, with several umbrella reviews and grey literature sources evaluating the health benefits of such interventions. Many of these studies indicated that successful interventions were those that combined school-based interventions with other interventions targeting the family and/or community. However, it is interesting to note that it was more common for studies to identify more 'proximal' health benefits from these strategies, such as reduced screen time or sedentary behaviour, or improvements in fruit and vegetable consumption. A small number of studies also suggested there were mental wellbeing benefits to those strategies.

Health benefits were also identified in the literature on built and natural environment and transport interventions. For example, creating more walkable neighbourhoods, investing in cycling infrastructure, and increasing access to green space were all associated with health benefits such as a reduction in mortality rates, reduced rates of chronic disease, increased physical activity and lower BMI. Many of these interventions also had mental wellbeing benefits,

including a reduction in stress and improvement in rates of depression. This was particularly the case for interventions that promoted more physical activity, such as active transport and walking.

Social and other benefits (including environmental benefits)

The social and other benefits identified in this review included social cohesion, social connection, reduction in loneliness, reduction in crime and violence, or improvement in local area amenity. Other benefits identified included environmental benefits. The two types of strategies for which social and other benefits tended to be identified were settings-based health promotion and built and natural environment and transport interventions.

It was more common for obesity prevention interventions, particularly those in school settings, to provide evidence of social benefits. For example, feedback from teachers and parents about a children's obesity prevention intervention was that it changed the 'tone' of the school environment. Other studies also cited the importance of school-based interventions for building social skills and self-esteem in young people.

Interventions targeting the built and natural environment or transport system tended to describe a range of environmental benefits in addition to health benefits. These environmental benefits included reduced air pollution levels, carbon emissions, and reduced heat; these tended to be associated with green and blue spaces, vegetation (including tree canopy) and active transport and walkability. Some literature also suggested that walkable neighbourhoods, built environment interventions and active transport could promote greater social cohesion, safety and public amenity.

Economic benefits and cost-effectiveness

While the search strategy for this review adopted a broad definition of 'economic benefits', in the literature this was mostly interpreted to mean costed or monetised benefits gained because of an intervention, with these benefits usually provided through economic evaluations of interventions (such as cost-effectiveness analyses). These benefits ranged from macroeconomic benefits to societal benefits, or healthcare system cost savings.

Most preventive strategies at the primordial or primary level were found to be economically beneficial. Regulatory interventions (such as taxation of harmful products, or strategies such as food reformulation) tended to be dominant interventions in terms of cost-effectiveness or economic and health benefits. These strategies therefore represent good value for money in terms of efficient investment by governments. The types of strategies included in this review for which this was the case were tobacco taxation, mandatory salt reduction, reformulation of the food supply, and built environment and transport interventions.

Other strategies that demonstrated evidence of economic benefit included mass media campaigns to promote healthier behaviours, and interventions targeting children, such as restricting unhealthy food advertising to children. There was also evidence that childhood and adolescent obesity prevention interventions were cost-effective or cost saving.

Implications for further research

Demonstrating the value of prevention through measuring co-benefits

To clearly demonstrate and articulate the value of prevention, researchers and policymakers need to ensure they are reporting and measuring the full range of outcomes and co-benefits, including health and nonhealth benefits and co-benefits.

While most of the benefits identified in this review were related to physical health outcomes, several other benefits were identified. However, these benefits tended to be less frequently identified in reviews and syntheses, and were not generally included as outcomes, either in the reviews or primary studies. This represents a significant challenge for health researchers and governments to quantify and measure these benefits alongside health benefits, for example including co-benefits as primary or secondary outcomes in evaluations of public health interventions and studies.

Identifying the value and co-benefits of preventive strategies beyond physical health benefits is a focus of rapidly expanding fields of research in public health and medical research. The most well-established areas are in the

mental health co-benefits of healthy lifestyle interventions,¹⁰⁶ the health, economic and environmental co-benefits of investing in active transport and built environment interventions,¹⁰⁷⁻¹⁰⁹ the environmental co-benefits of healthier, more sustainable food systems,¹¹⁰ and the co-benefits of obesity prevention and climate change mitigation.¹¹¹ Including other outcomes outside of physical health outcomes when designing, implementing and evaluating preventive health interventions will add significantly to the evidence base and may provide further compelling evidence as to the full value of prevention. Similarly, non-health interventions could include health outcomes and data to demonstrate evidence of benefit to health.

Using systems thinking and approaches to prevention

Understanding and demonstrating that prevention can have benefits for areas outside of health reflects systems thinking or complexity approaches to chronic disease and prevention.

There is a range of complex drivers for the 4 risk factors on which this review focused. These drivers occur at different levels of the 'system'. Many of these risk factors are interrelated, for example physical inactivity, unhealthy diet and obesity. Addressing the complex web of causality that leads to certain health behaviours, outcomes and risk factors is therefore challenging.

Systems approaches can help to identify and articulate which interventions could be effective at addressing not just one risk factor, but also several other risk factors for poor health. Taking a systems approach could assist in terms of designing, implementing and evaluating multi-level, multi-component interventions for different populations and settings.

However, complex interventions that target multiple risk factors at once and are implemented in a real-world situation also means RCT-quality and meta-analysis quality evidence is likely not feasible. Much of the evidence required for improved policy and practice in prevention may therefore rely on natural experiments and other types of non-randomised, non-controlled experimental studies.¹¹² Researchers, policymakers and practitioners may need to consider what is a sufficient body of evidence to justify and enable the case for public health and preventive action.¹¹³

Systems approaches could also help to identify and measure the different types of benefits of prevention to individuals, communities, businesses and governments. For example, a systems approach to physical activity could help identify the benefits of different interventions across sectors such as transport, including health and environmental co-benefits like improvements in air quality.¹¹⁴

Collecting costs and benefits of prevention for economic evaluations

Economic costs and benefits need to be a routine part of data collection for implementation and evaluations of preventive strategies.

Only a small number of included reviews and reports provided economic costs or benefits of various interventions, including cost-effectiveness analyses and other economic evaluations. In addition, only 9 cost-effectiveness or economic evaluation reviews were identified, although this may reflect the number of systematic reviews that have been conducted, rather than the number or quality of cost-effectiveness analyses that exist in the literature (though systematic reviews do tend to reflect the body of primary studies available).

While cost-effectiveness and economic evaluations are usually conducted only for interventions that have demonstrated efficacy, this is an opportunity for future research. More high-quality research is needed in this area to demonstrate the economic benefits and cost-effectiveness of preventive strategies. In addition, economic evaluations of existing and hypothetical preventive interventions could assist government agencies and departments who are increasingly required to provide cost benefit and economic justification to new programs or policies.

Economic data and evidence of economic costs and benefits therefore need to be collected, and other types of benefits need to be clearly defined and measured. When a new intervention is implemented in prevention, how the benefits or costs will be measured or accounted for needs to be determined during the design of the intervention and research. While it is increasingly common to engage statisticians early in a project or research planning stage, it is less common for health economists to be consulted. Consulting a health economist is particularly important if

a group or government department needs to account for non-health benefits of preventive interventions, as there are different economic approaches that can be used to help demonstrate and cost these benefits, such as Cost Benefit Analysis (CBA), Social Return on Investment (SROI), or Cost Consequence Analysis (CCA). The specific type of economic analysis that should be used in a given situation is dependent on the decision context, type of intervention and research question, and the most relevant analytic approach needs to be chosen in order to demonstrate the full value and benefits of prevention.

There was also an evidence gap in terms of quantifying the health and economic burden of poor diet, and effective strategies to change dietary behaviours. There are epidemiological challenges of attributing causal links between disease and aspects of dietary patterns, as people's dietary behaviours are highly complex. This also makes it challenging to develop effective preventive interventions, though this review notes there is a body of evidence regarding salt reduction strategies, including economic evaluation and modelling. This is an area worth further exploration to help determine which public health interventions can reduce the significant burden and cost associated with unhealthy diet.

Limitations

There are several limitations to this review. This was a rapid review and, while systematic searching methods were employed, it is not the same in terms of evidence grading as a systematic review. The prioritisation of umbrella reviews and systematic reviews due to the breadth of literature may also mean that some studies were missed. For example, though it was included in the search strategy, no umbrella reviews or reports were identified about the benefits from behavioural economics or 'nudge' interventions. It may be that the wrong search terminology was used for this, but we also note such interventions and strategies are poorly defined.

In terms of identifying all the benefits associated with prevention, a review such as this is dependent on what is reported in the primary documents and systematic reviews. Evidence on non-health or social benefits may exist but have been missed by the focus of the present study on high-level evidence and inclusion criteria of umbrella reviews for review question 2.

The request to include grey literature is associated with a few challenges, given that grey literature documents and sources are found in a variety of locations across multiple organisational websites, both country-specific and international. As a result, there may be other grey literature documents that could have been relevant for this review but were not identified during the searching or screening process.

Due to the large number of results and extensive areas covered by the review, a full quality assessment for each study or report was not performed; instead, a summary of the study's assessment of evidence quality was provided, including any assessment frameworks used and whether limitations were provided. This assessment of the quality of the underlying evidence is also likely to be of more relevance to the reader than an assessment of the quality of an umbrella review, for example.

The available evidence in this review was also heterogeneous, making synthesis and comparison difficult, particularly when comparing different strategies and interventions. Few meta-analyses were identified because of this heterogeneity of data and the different interventions, strategies and settings. Providing definitive answers on which interventions or strategies are best is therefore difficult for such a broad review.

Glossary of terms

Abbreviation	Term
ABDS	Australian Burden of Disease Study
BCR	Benefit Cost Ratio
BMI	Body Mass Index
СВА	Cost Benefit Analysis
CEA	Cost Effectiveness Analysis
Col	Cost of Illness
CUA	Cost Utility Analysis
DALY	Disability Adjusted Life Year
ICER	Incremental Cost Effectiveness Ratio
QALY	Quality Adjusted Life Year
QoL	Quality of Life
RCT	Randomised Controlled Trial
Rol	Return on Investment
SROI	Social return on investment
Umbrella review	A systematic review of systematic reviews
WTP	Willingness To Pay

References

- St George A, Kite J, Hector D, Pedisic Z, Bellew B, Bauman A. Beyond overweight and obesity: HEAL targets for overweight and obesity and the six HEAL objectives. An Evidence Check review brokered by the Sax Institute for the Centre for Population Health, NSW Ministry of Health. Sydney, Australia: Sax Institute; 2014. <u>http://www.preventivehealth.net.au/content/pdf/resources Rapid Review-</u> Benefits of HEAL Strategy final 20141105(3).pdf
- 2. Jackson H, Shiell A. Preventive health: How much does Australia spend and is it enough? Canberra, Australia: Foundation for Alcohol Research and Education; 2017. <u>http://fare.org.au/wp-content/uploads/Preventive-health-How-much-does-Australia-spend-and-is-it-enough FINAL.pdf</u>
- 3. Shiell A, Jackson H. How much does Australia spend on prevention and how would we know whether it is enough? Health Promotion Journal of Australia. 2018;29(S1):7-9. doi:10.1002/hpja.165
- 4. World Health Organization. Tackling NCDs: 'best buys' and other recommended interventions for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2017. Contract No.: WHO/NMH/NVI/17.9 <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259232</u>
- 5. Australian National Preventive Health Agency. State of Preventive Health 2013. Report to the Australian Government Minister for Health. Canberra, Australia: ANPHA; 2013.

<u>https://www.dementia.org.au/sites/default/files/20130806_ANPHA_State_of_Preventative_Health_acc.pdf</u>
 National Public Health Partnership. The Language of Prevention. Melbourne, Australia: National Public Health

- Partnership; 2006. www.health.vic.gov.au/archive/archive2014/nphp/publications/language of prevention.pdf
- 7. Department of Health and Social Care. Prevention is better than cure: Our vision to help you live well for longer. London, UK: UK Government; 2018. <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/753688/Prev_</u>
- ention is better than cure 5-11.pdf. 8. National Cancer Institute. Prevention. NCI Dictionary of Cancer Terms. Bethesda, Maryland: National Cancer Institute; 2019
- 9. Bonita R, Beaglehole R, Kjellström T, Kjellstrom T. Basic Epidemiology. 2nd ed. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2006.
- 10. Marks L, Howse E, Rychetnik L, Wilson A. Current and future trends in chronic disease prevention research: Thematic analysis of grey and scientific literature. Sydney, Australia; 2020. <u>https://preventioncentre.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/Future-of-Prevention-Report Final-29042020.pdf</u>
- 11. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Prevention. Atlanta, Georgia: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2017. www.cdc.gov/pictureofamerica/pdfs/Picture of America Prevention.pdf
- 12. Frieden TR. A Framework for Public Health Action: The Health Impact Pyramid. American Journal of Public Health. 2010;100(4):590-5. doi:10.2105/ajph.2009.185652
- Adams J, Mytton O, White M, Monsivais P. Why Are Some Population Interventions for Diet and Obesity More Equitable and Effective Than Others? The Role of Individual Agency. PLOS Medicine. 2016;13(4):e1001990. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001990
- 14. The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre. Taking a systems approach to prevention. Sydney, Australia: Sax Institute; 2020. Accessed Available from: <u>https://preventioncentre.org.au/chronic-disease-and-systems/taking-a-systems-approach-to-prevention-new-page/</u>
- 15. Wilson A, Wutzke S, Overs M. The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre: systems thinking to prevent lifestyle-related chronic illness. Public Health Research & Practice. 2014;25(1).
- 16. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Chapter 8: Prevention for a healthier future. Canberra, Australia: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2014. Contract No.: Cat. no. AUS 178
- https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/australias-health/australias-health-2014/contents/table-of-contents
- 17. Moore G, Redman S, Rudge S, Haynes A. Do policy-makers find commissioned rapid reviews useful? Health Res Policy Syst. 2018;16(1):17. doi:10.1186/s12961-018-0293-1
- Moore GM, Redman S, Turner T, Haines M. Rapid reviews in health policy: a study of intended use in the New South Wales' Evidence Check programme. Evidence & Policy: A Journal of Research, Debate and Practice. 2016;12(4):505-19. doi:10.1332/174426415x14446635524057
- 19. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, The PG. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses: The PRISMA Statement. PLOS Medicine. 2009;6(7):e1000097. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097
- 20. Tyndall J. Authority, Accuracy, Coverage, Objectivity, Date, Significance (AACODS) Checklist. Adelaide, Australia: Flinders University; 2010.
- 21. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australian Burden of Disease Study: impact and causes of illness and death in Australia 2015. Canberra, Australia: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2019. Contract No.: Cat.

no. BOD 22 <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/burden-of-disease/burden-disease-study-illness-death-2015/contents/table-of-contents</u>

- Crosland P, Ananthapavan J, Davison J, Lambert M, Carter R. The economic cost of preventable disease in Australia: a systematic review of estimates and methods. Australian & New Zealand Journal of Public Health. 2019;43(5):484-95. doi:10.1111/1753-6405.12925
- 23. Crosland P, Ananthapavan J, Davison J, Lambert M, Carter R. The health burden of preventable disease in Australia: a systematic review. Australian & New Zealand Journal of Public Health. 2019;43(2):163-70. doi:10.1111/1753-6405.12882
- 24. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. A picture of overweight and obesity in Australia 2017. Canberra, Australia: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2017. Contract No.: Cat. no.PHE 216 <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/overweight-obesity/a-picture-of-overweight-and-obesity-in-australia/contents/table-of-contents</u>
- 25. PwC. Weighing the cost of obesity: A case for action. A study on the additional costs of obesity and benefits of intervention in Australia. PricewaterhouseCoopers; 2015. <u>https://www.pwc.com.au/pdf/weighing-the-cost-of-obesity-final.pdf</u>
- 26. Beswick A, Ambrosini GL, Radomiljac A, Tomlin S, Chapman AM, Maticevic J, et al. The burden and cost of excess body mass in Western Australian adults and children. Perth, Australia: Western Australian Department of Health; 2020. <u>https://ww2.health.wa.gov.au/-/media/Corp/Documents/Reports-and-publications/Burden-excess-body-mass/Burden-and-Cost-of-Excess-Body-Mass.pdf</u>
- 27. NSW Ministry of Health. NSW Childhood overweight and obesity detailed data report. Sydney, Australia: NSW Ministry of Health; 2020. <u>https://www.health.nsw.gov.au/heal/Publications/childhood-overweight-obesity-detailed-data-report.pdf</u>
- 28. Di Angelantonio E, Bhupathiraju S, Wormser D, Gao P, Kaptoge S, Berrington de Gonzalez A, et al. Body-mass index and all-cause mortality: individual-participant-data meta-analysis of 239 prospective studies in four continents. Lancet. 2016;388 North American Edition(10046):776-86. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30175-1
- Sanders RH, Han A, Baker Julien S, Cobley S. Childhood obesity and its physical and psychological comorbidities: a systematic review of Australian children and adolescents. European Journal of Pediatrics. 2015;174(6):715-46. doi:10.1007/s00431-015-2551-3
- 30. Teager W, Fox S, Stafford N. How Australia can invest early and return more: A new look at the \$15b cost and opportunity. Perth, Australia: Telethon Kids Institute; 2019. <u>https://colab.telethonkids.org.au/siteassets/media-docs---colab/coli/how-australia-can-invest-in-children-and-return-more----final-bn-not-embargoed.pdf</u>
- Hoque ME, Mannan M, Long KZ, Mamun AA. Economic burden of underweight and overweight among adults in the Asia-Pacific region: A systematic review. Tropical Medicine and International Health. 2016;21(4):458-69. doi:10.1111/tmi.12679
- 32. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Burden of tobacco use in Australia: Australian Burden of Disease Study 2015. Canberra, Australia: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2019. Contract No.: Cat. no. BOD 20 <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/burden-of-disease/burden-of-tobacco-use-in-australia/contents/table-ofcontents</u>
- 33. Whetton S, Tait RJ, Scollo M, Banks E, Chapman J, Dey T, et al. Identifying the social costs of tobacco use to Australia in 2015/16. Perth, Australia: National Drug Research Institute, Curtin University; 2019. <u>https://ndri.curtin.edu.au/NDRI/media/documents/publications/T273.pdf</u>
- 34. Barnsley P, Peden A, Scarr J. Economic Benefits of Australia's Public Aquatic Facilities. Sydney, Australia: Royal Life Saving Society; 2017. <u>http://swimaustralia.org.au/docs/rlss-economic-benefits-report-2017.pdf</u>
- 35. Pikora T, Christian H, Trapp G, Villanueva K. Chronic disease prevention interventions in children and young adults: A rapid review prepared for the Australian Government Department of Health on behalf of The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre. Sydney, Australia: Sax Institute; 2016. <u>https://preventioncentre.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/1604 DoH-review 21April final.pdf</u>
- 36. Bell L, Ullah S, Leslie E, Magarey A, Olds T, Ratcliffe J, et al. The Obesity Prevention and Lifestyle (OPAL) program evaluation Adelaide, Australia: Flinders University and SA Government; 2016. <u>https://www.sahealth.sa.gov.au/wps/wcm/connect/public+content/sa+health+internet/resources/flinders+unive</u> <u>rsity+opal+evaluation+project+report</u>
- 37. Sacks G, Looi E, Cameron A, Backholer K, Strugnell C, Tran M, et al. Population-level strategies to support healthy weight: an Evidence Check rapid review brokered by the Sax Institute (<u>www.saxinstitute.org.au</u>) for Queensland Health. Sydney, Australia: Sax Institute; 2019. <u>https://www.saxinstitute.org.au/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/19.11 Evidence-Check Population-level-strategies-to-support-healthy-weight.pdf</u>
- 38. Zanganeh M, Adab P, Li B, Frew E. A systematic review of methods, study quality, and results of economic evaluation for childhood and adolescent obesity intervention. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2019;16(3). doi:10.3390/ijerph16030485

- Psaltopoulou T, Tzanninis S, Ntanasis-Stathopoulos I, Panotopoulos G, Kostopoulou M, Tzanninis IG, et al. Prevention and treatment of childhood and adolescent obesity: a systematic review of meta-analyses. World Journal of Pediatrics. 2019;15(4):350-81. doi:10.1007/s12519-019-00266-y
- 40. Reilly JJ, Hughes AR, Gillespie J, Malden S, Martin A. Physical activity interventions in early life aimed at reducing later risk of obesity and related non-communicable diseases: A rapid review of systematic reviews. Obesity Reviews. 2019;20(S1):61-73. doi:10.1111/obr.12773
- 41. Littlewood R, Canfell Oliver J, Walker Jacqueline L. Interventions to prevent or treat childhood obesity in Māori & Pacific Islanders: a systematic review. BMC Public Health. 2020;20(1):725-. doi:10.1186/s12889-020-08848-6
- Korber K. Quality assessment of economic evaluations of health promotion programs for children and adolescents—a systematic review using the example of physical activity. Health Economics Review. 2015;5(1):1-14. doi:10.1186/s13561-015-0071-5
- 43. Mannocci A, Backhaus I, D'Egidio V, Federici A, Villari P, La T, et al. What public health strategies work to reduce the tobacco demand among young people? An umbrella review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. Health Policy. 2019;123(5):480-91. doi:10.1016/j.healthpol.2019.02.009
- 44. Stockings E, Hall WD, Lynskey M, Morley KI, Reavley N, Strang J, et al. Prevention, early intervention, harm reduction, and treatment of substance use in young people. The Lancet Psychiatry. 2016;3(3):280-96. doi:10.1016/S2215-0366(16)00002-X
- 45. Stacey FG, Finch M, Wolfenden L, Grady A, Jessop K, Wedesweiler T, et al. Evidence of the Potential Effectiveness of Centre-Based Childcare Policies and Practices on Child Diet and Physical Activity: Consolidating Evidence from Systematic Reviews of Intervention Trials and Observational Studies. Current Nutrition Reports. 2017;6(3):228-46. doi:10.1007/s13668-017-0212-z
- 46. Toumbourou J, Rowland B, Renner H, T. H. Healthy lifestyle choices in children: an Evidence Check rapid review brokered by the Sax Institute for the NSW Ministry of Health. Sydney, Australia: Sax Institute; 2016. https://www.saxinstitute.org.au/wp-content/uploads/Healthy-lifestyle-choices-in-children.pdf
- 47. Amini M, Djazayery A, Majdzadeh R, Taghdisi MH, Jazayeri S. Effect of school-based interventions to control childhood obesity: A review of reviews. International Journal of Preventive Medicine. 2015;2015(AUGUST). doi:10.4103/2008-7802.162059
- 48. Cauchi D, Glonti K, Petticrew M, Knai C. Environmental components of childhood obesity prevention interventions: an overview of systematic reviews. Obesity Reviews. 2016;17(11):1116-30. doi:10.1111/obr.12441
- 49. Goldthorpe J, Epton T, Keyworth C, Calam R, Armitage CJ. Are primary/elementary school-based interventions effective in preventing/ameliorating excess weight gain? A systematic review of systematic reviews. Obesity Reviews. 2020;21(6). doi:10.1111/obr.13001
- 50. Shackleton N, Jamal F, Viner Russell M, Dickson K, Patton G, Bonell C. School-Based Interventions Going Beyond Health Education to Promote Adolescent Health: Systematic Review of Reviews. Journal of Adolescent Health. 2016;58(4):382-96. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2015.12.017
- 51. Byrne M, Hill S, Wenden E, Devine A, Miller M, Quinlan H, et al. Evaluation of the Foodbank WA School Breakfast and Nutrition Education Program: Final Report. Perth, Australia: Edith Cowan University and Telethon Kids Institute; 2018. <u>https://www.foodbank.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/FBWA-2018-SBP-Evaluation-Report.pdf</u>
- 52. Matwiejczyk L, Mehta K, Scott J, Tonkin E, Coveney J. Characteristics of Effective Interventions Promoting Healthy Eating for Pre-Schoolers in Childcare Settings: An Umbrella Review. Nutrients. 2018;10(3):293. doi:10.3390/nu10030293
- 53. Zubala A, MacGillivray S, Frost H, Kroll T, Skelton Dawn A, Gavine A, et al. Promotion of physical activity interventions for community dwelling older adults: A systematic review of reviews. PloS one. 2017;12(7):e0180902. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0180902
- 54. Comans T, Nguyen K-H, Gardiner P, Rahja M, N. M. Community-based health promotion for older adults: an Evidence Check rapid review brokered by the Sax Institute. Sydney, Australia: Sax Institute; 2019. <u>https://www.saxinstitute.org.au/wp-content/uploads/20.06 Community-Based-Health-Promotion-for-Older-Adults.pdf</u>
- 55. Browne J, Adams K, Atkinson P, Gleeson D, Hayes R. Food and nutrition programs for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians: an overview of systematic reviews. Australian Health Review. 2018;42(6):689-97. doi:10.1071/AH17082
- 56. Gwynn J, Sim K, Searle T, Senior A, Lee A, Brimblecombe J. Effect of nutrition interventions on diet-related and health outcomes of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians: A systematic review. BMJ Open. 2019;9(4). doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2018-025291
- Ashman AM, Brown LJ, Collins CE, Rollo ME, Rae KM. Factors Associated with Effective Nutrition Interventions for Pregnant Indigenous Women: A Systematic Review. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition & Dietetics. 2017;117(8):1222-53.e2. doi:10.1016/j.jand.2017.03.012

- Pelletier CA, Smith-Forrester J, Klassen-Ross T. A systematic review of physical activity interventions to improve physical fitness and health outcomes among Indigenous adults living in Canada. Preventive Medicine Reports. 2017;8:242-9. doi:10.1016/j.pmedr.2017.11.002
- 59. Chamberlain C, Perlen S, Brennan S, Rychetnik L, Thomas D, Maddox R, et al. Evidence for a comprehensive approach to Aboriginal tobacco control to maintain the decline in smoking: An overview of reviews among Indigenous peoples. Systematic Reviews. 2017;6(1). doi:10.1186/s13643-017-0520-9
- 60. Rowbotham S, Barnett P, Gomez M, S. W. Effective whole-of-population stategies for preventing chronic disease. A rapid evidence review prepared for the Australian Government Department of Health on behalf of The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre. Sydney, Australia: Sax Institute; 2017. https://preventioncentre.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/DoH-rapid-review-Jan-2017.pdf
- 61. Harris M, Fatema K, Spooner C, Harris-Roxas B, Mahimbo A, Barr M, et al. Review of effectiveness of certain healthy lifestyle interventions to reduce alcohol consumption, increase levels of physical activity and healthy eating and reduce overweight and obesity (2014-2019). An Evidence Check rapid review brokered by the Sax Institute for the Cancer Institute NSW. Sydney, Australia: Sax Institute; 2019. https://www.saxinstitute.org.au/wp-content/uploads/20.08 Evidence-Check Review-of-effectiveness-of-certain-healthy-lifestyle-interventions.pdf
- 62. Thomson K, Hillier-Brown F, Todd A, McNamara C, Huijts T, Bambra C. The effects of public health policies on health inequalities in high-income countries: an umbrella review. BMC Public Health. 2018;18(1):869-. doi:10.1186/s12889-018-5677-1
- 63. Gebreslassie M, Sampaio F, Nystrand C, Ssegonja R, Feldman I. Economic evaluations of public health interventions for physical activity and healthy diet: A systematic review. Preventive Medicine. 2020;136. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106100
- 64. Hoffman S, J., Tan C. Overview of systematic reviews on the health-related effects of government tobacco control policies. BMC Public Health. 2015;15(1):744-. doi:10.1186/s12889-015-2041-6
- 65. Greenhalgh E, Hurley S, Lal A. 17.4 Economic evaluations of tobacco control interventions. In: Greenhalgh E, Scollo M, Winstanley M, editors. Tobacco in Australia: Facts and issues. Melbourne, Australia: Cancer Council Victoria; 2020
- 66. U.S. National Cancer Institute, World Health Organization. The Economics of Tobacco and Tobacco Control. Bethesda, USA; Geneva, Switzerland: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute, World Health Organization.; 2016. Contract No.: National Cancer Institute Tobacco Control Monograph 21. NIH Publication No. 16-CA-8029A
 - https://cancercontrol.cancer.gov/brp/tcrb/monographs/21/docs/m21_complete.pdf
- 67. Roberts S, Pilard L, Chen J, Hirst J, Rutter H, Greenhalgh T. Efficacy of population-wide diabetes and obesity prevention programs: An overview of systematic reviews on proximal, intermediate, and distal outcomes and a meta-analysis of impact on BMI. Obesity Reviews. 2019. doi:10.1111/obr.12821
- McKinnon RA, Siddiqi SM, Chaloupka FJ, Mancino L, Prasad K. Obesity-Related Policy/Environmental Interventions: A Systematic Review of Economic Analyses. American Journal of Preventive Medicine. 2016;50(4):543-9. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2015.10.021
- 69. Ananthapavan J, Sacks G, Brown V, Moodie M, Nguyen P, Barendregt J, et al. Assessing Cost-Effectiveness of Obesity Prevention Policies in Australia 2018 (ACE-Obesity Policy). Melbourne, Australia: Deakin University; 2018. https://secureservercdn.net/192.169.221.188/y97.516.myftpupload.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/ACE-Obesity-Report Final.pdf
- 70. Global Obesity Centre (GLOBE), Coalition. OP. Tipping the Scales: Australian Obesity Prevention Consensus. Melbourne, Australia: Obesity Policy Coalition; 2017. <u>https://www.opc.org.au/downloads/tipping-the-scales.pdf</u>
- 71.
 Queensland Government. An Integrated Approach for Tackling Childhood Overweight and Obesity in

 Queensland. An overview. Brisbane, Australia: Queensland Government; 2017.

 https://www.growinggoodhabits.health.qld.gov.au/wp-content/uploads/PDF/health-professionals/Anintegrated-approach-for-tackling-childhood-overweight-and-obesity-in-Queensland-overview.pdf
- 72. Hyseni L, Atkinson M, Bromley H, Orton L, Lloyd-Williams F, McGill R, et al. The effects of policy actions to improve population dietary patterns and prevent diet-related non-communicable diseases: Scoping review. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2017;71(6):694-711. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2016.234
- Kirkpatrick SI, Raffoul A, Maynard M, Lee Kirsten M, Stapleton J. Gaps in the Evidence on Population Interventions to Reduce Consumption of Sugars: A Review of Reviews. Nutrients. 2018;10(8):1036. doi:10.3390/nu10081036
- 74. Perez-Cueto FJ. An Umbrella Review of Systematic Reviews on Food Choice and Nutrition Published between 2017 and-2019. Nutrients. 2019;11(10):2398-. doi:10.3390/nu11102398

- 75. Hope SF, Webster J, Trieu K, Pillay A, Ieremia M, Bell C, et al. A systematic review of economic evaluations of population-based sodium reduction interventions. PloS one. 2017;12(3):e0173600. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0173600
- 76. Schorling E, Niebuhr D, Kroke A. Cost-effectiveness of salt reduction to prevent hypertension and CVD: a systematic review. Public Health Nutrition. 2017;20(11):1993-2003. doi:10.1017/S1368980017000593
- 77. Health Technology Analysts Pty Ltd. The Potential Impact of Salt Reduction in Australia. Sydney, Australia: The George Institute for Global Health; 2020. <u>https://www.georgeinstitute.org/sites/default/files/documents/potential-impact-of-salt-reduction-in-australia.pdf</u>
- 78. Abu-Omar K, Rütten A, Burlacu I, Schätzlein V, Messing S, Suhrcke M. The cost-effectiveness of physical activity interventions: A systematic review of reviews. Preventive Medicine Reports. 2017;8:72-8. doi:10.1016/j.pmedr.2017.08.006
- 79. National Heart Foundation of Australia. Blueprint for an active Australia: National Heart Foundation of Australia. 2019. <u>https://www.heartfoundation.org.au/getmedia/6c33122b-475c-4531-8c26-7e7a7b0eb7c1/Blueprint-For-An-Active-Australia.pdf</u>
- 80. Craike M, Wiesner G, Hilland Toni A, Bengoechea Enrique G. Interventions to improve physical activity among socioeconomically disadvantaged groups: an umbrella review. International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition & Physical Activity. 2018;15(1):N.PAG-N.PAG. doi:10.1186/s12966-018-0676-2
- 81. Department of Health. Post-Implementation Review: Tobacco Plain Packaging. Canberra, Australia: Australian Government; 2016. <u>https://ris.pmc.gov.au/sites/default/files/posts/2016/02/Tobacco-Plain-Packaging-PIR.pdf</u>
- 82. Gelius P, Messing S, Goodwin L, Schow D, Abu-Omar K. What are effective policies for promoting physical activity? A systematic review of reviews. Preventive Medicine Reports. 2020;18. doi:10.1016/j.pmedr.2020.101095
- 83. Task Force on Fiscal Policy for Health. Health Taxes to Save Lives: Employing Effective Excise Taxes on Tobacco, Alcohol, and Sugary Beverages. New York, USA: Bloomberg Philanthropies; 2019. https://www.bloomberg.org/program/public-health/task-force-fiscal-policy-health/
- 84. World Health Organization. The economic and health benefits of tobacco taxation. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2015. Contract No.: WHO/NMH/PND/15.6

https://www.who.int/tobacco/publications/economics/post2015tobacco/en/

- 85. Ernst & Young. Evaluation of the tobacco excise increases as a contributor to Smokefree 2025. Wellington, New Zealand: Ernst & Young Ltd; 2018. <u>https://www.health.govt.nz/system/files/documents/pages/evaluation-tobacco-excise-increases-final-27-nov2018.pdf</u>
- 86. Duckett S, Swerissen H, T. W. A sugary drinks tax: recovering the community costs of obesity. Melbourne, Australia: Grattan Institute; 2016. <u>https://grattan.edu.au/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/880-A-sugary-drinks-tax.pdf</u>
- 87. Bes-Rastrollo M, Sayon-Orea C, Ruiz-Canela M, Martinez-Gonzalez MA. Impact of sugars and sugar taxation on body weight control: A comprehensive literature review. Obesity. 2016;24(7):1410-26. doi:10.1002/oby.21535
- Wilson P, Hogan S. Sugar taxes: A review of the evidence. Wellington, New Zealand: New Zealand Institute of Economic Research; 2017. <u>https://nzier.org.nz/static/media/filer_public/f4/21/f421971a-27e8-4cb0-a8fc-95bc30ceda4e/sugar_tax_report.pdf</u>
- 89. Mounsey S, Veerman L, Jan S, Thow AM. The macroeconomic impacts of diet-related fiscal policy for NCD prevention: A systematic review. Economics and Human Biology. 2020;37. doi:10.1016/j.ehb.2020.100854
- 90. Astell-Burt T, Feng X. The effect of urban form on wellbeing: an Evidence Check rapid review brokered by the Sax Institute for the NSW Centre for Population Health. Sydney, Australia: Sax Institute; 2016. https://www.saxinstitute.org.au/wp-content/uploads/The-effect-of-urban-form-on-wellbeing.pdf
- Bird EL, Ige JO, Pilkington P, Pinto A, Petrokofsky C, Burgess-Allen J. Built and natural environment planning principles for promoting health: an umbrella review. BMC Public Health. 2018;18(1):N.PAG-N.PAG. doi:10.1186/s12889-018-5870-2
- 92. Bowen K, M P. The evidence base for linkages between green infrastructure, public health and economic benefit. Melbourne, Australia: Government of Victoria; 2015. <u>https://www.vu.edu.au/sites/default/files/cses/pdfs/gi-econ-health-paper.pdf</u>
- 93. Frontier Economics. Health benefits from water centric livable communities: a report prepared for the Water Services Association of Australia (WSAA). Melbourne, Australia: Frontier Economics Pty Ltd; 2019. https://www.wsaa.asn.au/publication/health-benefits-water-centric-liveable-communities
- 94. Gouldson A, Sudmant A, Khreis H, Papargyropoulou E. The Economic and Social Benefits of Low-Carbon Cities: A Systematic Review of the Evidence. London, UK; Washington DC, USA: Coalition for Urban Transitions; 2018. http://newclimateeconomy.net/content/cities-working-papers.

- 95. Mandic S, Jackson A, Lieswyn J, Mindell JS, García Bengoechea E, Spence JC, et al. Turning the Tide from Cars to Active Transport. Dunedin, New Zealand: University of Otago; 2019. <u>https://www.otago.ac.nz/active-</u> <u>living/otago710135.pdf</u>
- 96. Swift S, Green M, Hillage J, Nafilyan V. Impact of the Cycle to Work Scheme: Evidence Report. Brighton, UK: Institute for Employment Studies; 2016. <u>https://www.employment-</u> studies.co.uk/system/files/resources/files/509.pdf
- 97. van den Bosch M, Ode Sang Å. Urban natural environments as nature-based solutions for improved public health – A systematic review of reviews. Environmental Research. 2017;158:373-84. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2017.05.040
- 98. Zapata-Diomedi B, Brown V, JL. V. An evidence review and modelling exercise: The effects of urban form on health: costs and benefits. An evidence review commissioned by the Centre for Population Health, NSW Ministry of Health, and brokered by the Sax Institute for The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre. Sydney, Australia: Sax Institute; 2015. <u>https://preventioncentre.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/1604_Urban-form-evidence-review_final.pdf</u>
- 99. Proper KI, Van O, S H. The effectiveness of workplace health promotion interventions on physical and mental health outcomes – A systematic review of reviews. Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health. 2019;45(6):546-59. doi:10.5271/sjweh.3833
- 100. White MI, Dionne CE, Wärje O, Koehoorn M, Wagner SL, Schultz IZ, et al. Physical Activity and Exercise Interventions in the Workplace Impacting Work Outcomes: A Stakeholder-Centered Best Evidence Synthesis of Systematic Reviews. International Journal of Occupational & Environmental Medicine. 2016;7(2):61-74. doi:10.15171/ijoem.2016.739
- 101. Bell J, Norris S, Shand AW, Lain S, Hall B, Schneuer F, et al. Healthy mothers and babies a life-course approach: an Evidence Check rapid review brokered by the Sax Institute (<u>www.saxinstitute.org.au</u>) for the NSW Ministry of Health. Sydney, Australia: Sax Institute; 2018. <u>https://www.saxinstitute.org.au/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2019 Healthy-mothers-and-babies-a-life-course-approach.pdf</u>
- 102. Stead M, Angus K, Langley T, Katikireddi Srinivasa V, Hinds K, Hilton S, et al. Mass media to communicate public health messages in six health topic areas: a systematic review and other reviews of the evidence. Public Health Research. 2019. doi:10.3310/phr07080
- 103. Atusingwize E, Lewis S, Langley T. Economic evaluations of tobacco control mass media campaigns: a systematic review. Tobacco Control. 2015;24(4):320-7. doi:10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2014-051579
- 104. Bardus M, Smith Jane R, Samaha L, Abraham C. Mobile and Web 2.0 interventions for weight management: an overview of review evidence and its methodological quality. European journal of public health. 2016;26(4):602-10. doi:10.1093/eurpub/ckw090
- 105. Hall AK, Cole-Lewis H, Bernhardt Jay M. Mobile text messaging for health: a systematic review of reviews. Annual review of public health. 2015;36:393-415. doi:10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031914-122855
- 106. Firth J, Solmi M, Wootton RE, Vancampfort D, Schuch FB, Hoare E, et al. A meta-review of "lifestyle psychiatry": the role of exercise, smoking, diet and sleep in the prevention and treatment of mental disorders. World Psychiatry. 2020;19(3):360-80. doi:10.1002/wps.20773
- 107. Giles-Corti B, Foster S, Shilton T, Falconer R. The co-benefits for health of investing in active transportation. NSW Public Health Bulletin. 2010;21(6):122-7.
- 108. Zapata-Diomedi B, Boulangé C, Giles-Corti B, Phelan K, Washington S, Veerman JL, et al. Physical activity-related health and economic benefits of building walkable neighbourhoods: a modelled comparison between brownfield and greenfield developments. International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity. 2019;16(1):11. doi:10.1186/s12966-019-0775-8
- 109. Zapata-Diomedi B, Knibbs LD, Ware RS, Heesch KC, Tainio M, Woodcock J, et al. A shift from motorised travel to active transport: What are the potential health gains for an Australian city? PloS one. 2017;12(10):e0184799. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0184799
- 110. Willett W, Rockström J, Loken B, Springmann M, Lang T, Vermeulen S, et al. Food in the Anthropocene: the EAT Lancet Commission on healthy diets from sustainable food systems. The Lancet. 2019;393(10170):447-92. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31788-4
- 111. Lowe M. Obesity and climate change mitigation in Australia: overview and analysis of policies with co-benefits. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health. 2014;38(1):19-24. doi:10.1111/1753-6405.12150
- Crane M, Bohn-Goldbaum E, Grunseit A, Bauman A. Using natural experiments to improve public health evidence: a review of context and utility for obesity prevention. Health Research Policy and Systems. 2020;18(1):48. doi:10.1186/s12961-020-00564-2
- 113. Ogilvie D, Adams J, Bauman A, Gregg EW, Panter J, Siegel KR, et al. Using natural experimental studies to guide public health action: turning the evidence-based medicine paradigm on its head. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health. 2020;74(2):203-8. doi:10.1136/jech-2019-213085

114. Rutter H, Cavill N, Bauman A, Bull F. Systems approaches to global and national physical activity plans. Bull World Health Organ. 2019;97(2):162-5. doi:10.2471/blt.18.220533

Appendices

Appendix A: Search strategies

Key concepts

Concept 1 Costs (health & economic)	Concept 2 <i>Risk factor</i>	Concept 3 Risk factor	Concept 4 Risk factor	Concept 5 Risk factor
Economic cost	High body mass	Poor diet	Physical inactivity	Tobacco use
Costing	Obesity	Diet	Physical activity	Tobacco smoking
Financial	Overweight	Nutrition	Sedentary behaviour	Tobacco use cessation
Cost of illness	BMI		Exercise	Smoking
Value	Body mass index			
Burden of disease				
Health burden				
Health impact				

Concept 1	Concept 2	Concept 3	Concept 4	Concept 5	Concept 6
Health, social & economic benefits	primary prevention	Risk factor	Risk factor	Risk factor	Risk factor
Evaluation	Prevention	High body mass	Poor diet	Physical inactivity	Tobacco use
Effectiveness	Social marketing	Obesity	Diet	Physical activity	Tobacco smoking
Impact	Mass media campaign	Overweight	Nutrition	Sedentary behaviour	Tobacco use cessation
Value	Policy	BMI		Exercise	Smoking
Social good	Regulation	Body mass index			
Social impact	Legislation				
Sustainable development	Taxes				
Cost effectiveness	Health promotion				
Economic	Food labelling				
Value for money	Urban / city planning				
Cost benefit	Built environment				
Cost analysis	Healthy lifestyle				
Costing	Active transport / active travel				
	Behavioural economics				
	Breastfeeding				

Peer-reviewed literature search strategy

Databases used

- MEDLINE Complete via EBSCOhost
- Econlit via EBSCOhost
- CINAHL via EBSCOhost
- Embase

Example of database search (MEDLINE Complete via EBSCOHost, 23 June 2020)

Search ID	Search	Options	Results
S35	S30 AND S31 AND S32	Limiters - Date of Publication: 20100701- 20200631; English Language Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(6,536)
S34	S30 AND S31 AND S32	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(11,080)
S33	S31 AND S32	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(385,546)
S32	S19 OR S20 OR S21 OR S22 OR S23 OR S24 OR S25 OR S26 OR S27 OR S28 OR S29	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(3,092,955)
S31	S1 OR S2 OR S3 OR S4 OR S5 OR S6 OR S7 OR S8 OR S9 OR S10 OR S11 OR S12 OR S13 OR S14 OR S15 OR S16 OR S17 OR S18	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(2,272,892)
S30	TI Australia* OR AB Australia* OR CY Australia OR MH Australia	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(396,422)
S29	(MH "Global Burden of Disease")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(593)
S28	TI prevent* OR AB prevent*	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(1,404,742)
S27	TI economic OR AB economic	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(215,291)
S26	TI financ* OR AB financ*	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(103,561)
S25	TI burden OR AB burden	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(208,194)

S24	TI cost OR AB cost	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(544,432)
S23	TI ("health impact" OR "social impact") OR AB ("health impact"	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(10,659)
S22	OR "social impact") (MH "Mortality+") OR (MH	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(904,794)
	"Morbidity+") OR (MH "Life Expectancy")	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S21	(MH "Health Impact Assessment")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(671)
S20	(MH "Costs and Cost Analysis+")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(235,945)
S19	(MH "Primary Prevention")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(18,401)
S18	TI ("sedentary behav*") OR AB ("sedentary behav*")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(6,195)
S17	Tl ("physical* activ*" OR "physical* inactiv*") OR AB ("physical* activ*" OR "physical* inactiv*")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(119,532)
S16	(MH "Health Risk Behaviors") OR (MH "Health Behavior")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(50,187)
S15	(MH "Sedentary Behavior")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(9,187)
S14	(MH "Exercise") OR (MH "Walking+") OR (MH "Running+")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(174,295)
S13	TI (obesity OR obese OR overweight) OR AB (obesity OR obese OR overweight)	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(313,772)
S12	TI ("body mass index" OR bmi) OR AB ("body mass index" OR bmi)	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(241,382)
S11	TI "high body mass" OR AB "high body mass"	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(2,759)
S10	(MH "Body Weight+")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(460,421)
S9	TI nutrition OR AB nutrition	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(153,583)
S8	TI diet OR AB diet	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(354,511)
S7	(MH "Diet, Food, and Nutrition+")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(1,078,675)

		Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S6	(MH "Diet+")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(278,545)
S5	TI smoking OR AB smoking	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(221,553)
S4	TI tobacco OR AB tobacco	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(100,513)
S3	(MH smoking) OR (MH "Smoking Prevention") OR (MH "Smoking Reduction") OR (MH "Cigarette Smoking")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(148,437)
S2	(MH "Tobacco Use Cessation") OR (MH "Tobacco Use Disorder") OR (MH "Smoking Cessation")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(35,769)
S1	(MH "Tobacco Use") OR (MH "Tobacco Smoking")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(2,700)

Search ID	Search	Options	Results
S55	S54	Limiters - Date of Publication: 20100701- 20200631; English Language	(3,592)
		Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S54	\$53	Limiters - Review Articles	(7,123)
		Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S53	S50 AND S51 AND S52	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(33,230)
		Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S52	S20 OR S21 OR S44 OR S45 OR S46	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(2,353,166)
	OR S47 OR S48 OR S49	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S51	S19 OR S22 OR S23 OR S24 OR S25	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(960,532)
	OR S27 OR S28 OR S29 OR S30 OR S31 OR S32 OR S33 OR S34 OR S35 OR S36 OR S37 OR S38 OR S39 OR S40 OR S41 OR S42 OR S43	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S50	S1 OR S2 OR S3 OR S4 OR S5 OR S6	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(2.273.598)
	OR S7 OR S8 OR S9 OR S10 OR S11 OR S12 OR S13 OR S14 OR S15 OR S16 OR S17 OR S18	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(
S49	(MH "Sustainable Development")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(701)
		Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S48	TI "value for money" OR AB "value for money"	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(1,664)
S47	TI effectiveness OR AB effectiveness	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(442,500)
S46	Tl ("social good" OR "social impact") OR AB ("social good" OR "social impact")	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(2,142)
S45	TI (cost OR financ* OR economic) OR AB (cost OR financ* OR economic)	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(774,315)
S44	TI evaluation OR AB evaluation	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(1,244,933)
		Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S43	(MH "Breast Feeding")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(37,433)
		Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S42	TI ("active transport") OR AB ("active	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(7,486)
	transport")	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S41	TI ("social marketing") OR AB	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(1,664)
	("social marketing")	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	

S40	TI ("mass media campaign") OR AB ("mass media campaign")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(308)
S39	(MH "Mass Media+")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(45,351)
		Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S38	(MH "Social Marketing")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(2,384)
		Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S37	TI ((health OR disease) N3 (policy OR policies OR regulation* OR legislation OR law*)) OR AB ((health OR disease) N3 (policy OR policies OR regulation* OR legislation OR law*))	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(62,154)
S36	TI (prevention OR preventative) OR AB (prevention OR preventative)	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(549,877)
S35	(MH "Legislation, Food")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(2,423)
		Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S34	(MH "Legislation")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(0)
		Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S33	(MH "Health Promotion+")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(76,396)
		Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S32	(MH "Food Packaging")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(4,678)
C21	(MH "Food Labeling")	Expanders Apply equivalent subjects	(2 722)
551	(MIT FOOD Labeling)	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(3,733)
S30	(MH "Built Environment") OR (MH	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(6,733)
	"Environment Design")	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S29	Tl ("urban planning") OR AB ("urban	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(987)
	planning")	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S28	(MH "City Planning") OR (MH "Social	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(25,950)
	Planning") OR (MH "Health Planning")	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S27	(MH "Economics") OR (MH "Resource Allocation") OR (MH	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(53,034)
	"Health Care Rationing") OR (MH "Economics, Behavioral") OR (MH "Economics, Medical")	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S26	(MH "Taxes")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(6,642)
		Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S25	(MH "Government Regulation")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(21,153)
		Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	

S24	(MH "Smoke-Free Policy")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(890)
		Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S23	(MH "Fiscal Policy") OR (MH "Social	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(813)
	Control Policies")	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S22	(MH "Policy") OR (MH "Nutrition	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(136,763)
	Policy") OR (MH "Health Policy") OR (MH "Health Care Reform") OR (MH "Public Policy")	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S21	(MH "Health Impact Assessment")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(671)
		Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S20	(MH "Costs and Cost Analysis+")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(235,945)
		Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S19	(MH "Primary Prevention")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(18,401)
		Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S18	TI ("physical* activ*" OR "physical*	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(119,532)
	inactiv*") OR AB ("physical* activ*" OR "physical* inactiv*")	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S17	(MH "Health Risk Behaviors") OR	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(50,187)
	(MH "Health Benavior")	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S16	(MH "Sedentary Behavior")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(9,187)
		Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S15	(MH "Exercise") OR (MH "Walking+") OR (MH "Running+")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(174,295)
C14	TI (charity OD charas OD	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(212772)
514	overweight) OR AB (obesity OR	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(313,772)
	obese OR overweight)	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S13	TI ("body mass index" OR bmi) OR	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(241,382)
	AB ("body mass index" OR bmi)	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S12	TI "high body mass" OR AB "high	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(2,759)
	body mass"	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S11	(MH "Body Weight+")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(460,421)
		Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S10	TI ("sedentary behav*") OR AB	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(6,195)
	("sedentary behav*")	Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S9	TI nutrition OR AB nutrition	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(153,583)
		Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S8	TI diet OR AB diet	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects	(354,511)
		Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
			1

S7	(MH "Diet, Food, and Nutrition+")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	(1,078,675)
S6	(MH "Diet+")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S5	TI smoking OR AB smoking	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S4	TI tobacco OR AB tobacco	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S3	(MH smoking) OR (MH "Smoking Prevention") OR (MH "Smoking Reduction") OR (MH "Cigarette Smoking")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S2	(MH "Tobacco Use Cessation") OR (MH "Tobacco Use Disorder") OR (MH "Smoking Cessation")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	
S1	(MH "Tobacco Use") OR (MH "Tobacco Smoking")	Expanders - Apply equivalent subjects Search modes - Boolean/Phrase	

Grey literature search strategy

Databases and websites used

- Google Advanced <u>www.google.com.au/advanced search?hl=en</u>
- WHO IRIS (Institutional Repository for Information Sharing) apps.who.int/iris/
- Australia
 - Capital Monitor (accessible through university libraries Australian legislation, policy & research)
 - o Analysis & Policy Observatory (APO) <u>apo.org.au/subject/57741</u>
 - o Federal government departments and statutory agencies (such as ABS and AIHW)
 - o State and territory governments and statutory agencies (such as VicHealth)
 - Consultancies PwC; EY; BCG; McKinsey; KPMG; Access Economics
 - Health-related major organisations & NFPs: The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre; Sax Institute; The George Institute; Obesity Policy Coalition; Cancer Council Australia; Heart Foundation; Consumers' Health Forum; Foundation for Alcohol Research and Education; Major private health insurers (eg. Medibank; Bupa); health professional groups – RACGP; AMA; Public Health Association of Australia, Health Promotion Association of Australia
- NZ
- New Zealand Ministry of Health Grey Matter newsletter <u>https://www.health.govt.nz/news-</u> media/grey-matter-newsletter
- o Ministry of Health
- Public Health Association of NZ
- Canada
 - Canadian Best Practices Portal Public Health Agency of Canada <u>https://cbpp-pcpe.phac-aspc.gc.ca/</u>
 - Prevention Policies Directory Canadian Partnership Against Cancer <u>https://www.partnershipagainstcancer.ca/tools/prevention-policies-directory/</u>
 - o Public Health Agency of Canada
 - o Canadian Public Health Association
- UK
- NICE Evidence search https://www.evidence.nhs.uk/
- OpenGrey Europe <u>http://www.opengrey.eu/</u>
- o NICE
- o Public Health England
- Wellcome Trust
- o Obesity Health Alliance
- International
 - o WHO
 - o OECD
 - o World Cancer Research Fund
 - o NCD Alliance.

Search terms

Review question 1

16 June 2020 (search 1)

economic OR costs OR cost OR costing OR financial OR "cost effective" OR "cost benefit" OR "cost analysis" OR "cost of illness" OR "value for money" OR "burden of disease"

AND

tobacco OR smoking OR diet OR nutrition OR obesity OR overweight OR BMI OR "physical inactivity" OR "physical activity" OR "sedentary behaviour"

23 June 2020 (search 2)

Economic OR cost OR financial OR "cost of illness" OR value OR "value for money"

OR

"burden of disease" OR "health burden" OR "health impact"

AND

tobacco OR smoking OR diet OR nutrition OR obesity OR overweight OR BMI OR "high body mass" OR "physical inactivity" OR "physical activity" OR "sedentary behaviour"

Filters

- 2010-2020
- Australia

Review question 2

16 June 2020 (search 1)

evaluation OR evaluate

AND

policy OR policies OR law OR legislation OR regulation OR tax OR excise OR "behavioural economics" OR "nutrition labelling" OR "health promotion" OR "health campaign" OR "mass media campaign" OR "social marketing" OR "built environment" or "urban planning" OR "liveability" OR "active transport" OR "active travel" OR cycling OR walkability

AND

tobacco OR smoking OR "tobacco control" OR diet OR nutrition OR obesity OR "physical inactivity" OR "sedentary behaviour" OR breastfeeding

23 June 2020 (search 2)

economic OR cost OR "cost analysis" OR "cost effective" OR "cost benefit" OR "return on investment" OR "economic model"

OR

Evaluation OR effectiveness OR "Social impact" OR "social good" OR "sustainable development"

AND

prevention OR policy OR law OR legislation OR regulation OR tax OR excise OR "behavioural economics" OR "health promotion" OR "health campaign" OR "mass media campaign" OR "social marketing"

AND

tobacco OR smoking OR "tobacco control" OR diet OR nutrition OR obesity OR overweight OR "physical inactivity" OR "sedentary behaviour" OR breastfeeding

Specific searches, add:

- "built environment" or "urban planning" OR "liveability" OR "active transport" OR "active travel" OR cycling OR walkability AND obesity OR overweight OR "physical inactivity" OR "sedentary behaviour"
- "nutrition labelling" OR "food labelling" AND diet OR nutrition OR obesity OR overweight
- "tobacco control" OR "smoke free policy" OR "smoke free laws"

Filters

- 2010-2020
- Australia, NZ, UK, Canada
- filetype:pdf
- Title, keyword, abstract searching.

Appendix B: Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Review question 1

What are the economic and health costs of high body mass, poor diet, insufficient physical activity and tobacco use?

	Inclusion	Exclusion
Date	2015–2020	<2015
Language	English	Non-English language
Country	Australia	Other countries not listed
Publication or study type	 Scientific literature: Systematic review Umbrella review Meta-analysis Grey literature: Burden of Disease study Evidence Check/review Report 	Other publication types not listed, including other types of non-systematic reviews
Risk factors	 Poor/unhealthy diet Physical inactivity and sedentary behaviour Overweight, obesity, BMI Tobacco use and smoking 	Any other risk factors not listed
Population	AdultsChildren	
Primary outcomes	 The publication or study must include at least one of these outcomes or measures: Proportion of economic costs attributable to at least one (or more) of the 4 risk factors. These costs include: Healthcare costs Productivity costs Non-healthcare costs and other government expenditure (e.g. Welfare) Proportion of morbidity or mortality (health costs or health burden) attributable to at least one (or more) of the 4 risk factors. This includes: Morbidity measures – DALYs, YLLs, QALYs, HALYs Mortality – e.g. number of deaths. 	 Prevalence of risk factors Association or relationship between the risk factors and other outcomes

Review question 2

What are the health, social and economic benefits of primary prevention strategies which address high body mass, poor diet, insufficient physical activity and tobacco use; and which strategies are most cost-effective?

	Inclusion	Exclusion
Date	2015–2020	<2015
Language	English	Non-English language
Country	Scientific literature: • High-income countries Grey literature: • Australia • Canada • New Zealand • United Kingdom • International organisations	 Other countries not listed. Low- and middle-income countries.
Publication or study type	 Scientific literature: (in order of priority as per the evidence hierarchy) Umbrella review (review of systematic reviews) and/or meta-review (review of meta-analyses) Systematic review and/or meta-analysis Grey literature: Review Evaluation Report 	Other publication types not listed, including protocols and non-systematic reviews
Risk factors	 Poor/unhealthy diet Physical inactivity and sedentary behaviour Overweight, obesity, BMI Tobacco use and smoking 	Other risk factors not listed
Population	 Adults Children Adolescents Older adults Pregnant women Employees General population Indigenous populations 	 Healthcare workers and professionals People already with conditions or at high risk e.g. Obese persons; women with gestational diabetes; people with diagnosed pre- diabetes; existing smokers Specific sub-populations e.g. People with a mental illness or disability

	Inclusion	Exclusion
Intervention	One of the listed population-wide primary prevention interventions that addresses at least 1 or more of the 4 risk factors at a population level (i.e. In the whole population / already healthy or low risk population): Prevention Social marketing Mass media campaign Policy Regulation Legislation Taxation Health promotion Food labelling Urban / city planning Built environment Healthy lifestyle programs Active transport / active travel e.g. walking, cycling Behavioural economics Breastfeeding promotion School-based programs e-Health and mHealth interventions Any other setting-based program	 Treatment Secondary prevention (including screening) Tertiary prevention Smoking cessation Weight loss or weight management Pharmacotherapy Surgery Falls prevention Healthcare or primary care interventions Dietary or nutritional interventions e.g. Supplementation; putting people on specific clinical diets or feeding patterns
Primary outcomes	 The effectiveness, impact or benefit of the intervention which could include: Health benefits – including physical and mental health and benefits to the health system Social benefits – including education, crime, welfare, productivity Economic benefits – including cost-effectiveness, return on investment, cost benefit Other benefits – such as environmental benefits Any other measure of effectiveness or impact 	 Implementation or feasibility of interventions Methodological reviews of interventions

Appendix C: PRISMA flow diagrams

Review question 1

What are the economic and health costs of high body mass, poor diet, insufficient physical activity and tobacco use?

Peer-reviewed literature



Grey literature



Review question 2

What are the health, social and economic benefits of primary prevention strategies which address high body mass, poor diet, insufficient physical activity and tobacco use; and which strategies are most cost-effective?

Peer-reviewed literature



Grey literature



Appendix D: Included studies

Study ID	Publication type	Risk factor	No. of included studies
AIHW 2017	Government report	Overweight and obesity	Not specified
AIHW 2019a (ABDS 2015)	Government report	Multiple risk factors	Original analysis
AIHW 2019b (ABDS 2015)	Government report	Tobacco use	Original analysis
Barnsley 2017	Report	Physical inactivity	Original analysis
Beswick 2020	Government report	Overweight and obesity	Original analysis
Crosland 2019a	Systematic review	Multiple risk factors	11
Crosland 2019b	Systematic review	Multiple risk factors	18
Di Angelantonio 2016	Systematic review with meta- analysis	Overweight and obesity	239
Hoque 2016	Systematic review	Overweight and obesity	17 in total; 3 on Australia
NSW MoH 2020	Government report	Overweight and obesity	Original analysis
PwC 2015	Report	Overweight and obesity	Original analysis
Sanders 2015	Systematic review	Overweight and obesity	47
Teager 2019	Report	Multiple risk factors	Original analysis
Whetton 2019	Report	Tobacco use	Original analysis

Study ID	Title	Publication type	No. reviews or studies included	Primary risk factor targeted	Primary prevention strategy
Abu-Omar 2017	The cost-effectiveness of physical activity interventions: A systematic review of reviews	Umbrella review (CE)	18	Physical inactivity	Multiple strategies
Amini 2015	Effect of School-based Interventions to Control Childhood Obesity: A Review of Reviews	Umbrella review	8	Overweight and obesity	Settings-based health promotion
Ananthapavan 2018	Assessing Cost-Effectiveness of Obesity Prevention Policies in Australia 2018 (ACE-Obesity Policy)	Report	Original analysis	Overweight and obesity	Multiple strategies
Ashman 2017	Factors Associated with Effective Nutrition Interventions for Pregnant Indigenous Women: A Systematic Review	Systematic review (Indigenous populations)	27	Unhealthy diet	Multiple strategies
Astell-Burt 2015	The effect of urban form on wellbeing: an Evidence Check rapid review brokered by the Sax Institute for the NSW Centre for Population Health	Review – Evidence Check	103	Physical inactivity	Built environment and transport
Atusingwize 2015	Economic evaluations of tobacco control mass media campaigns: a systematic review	Systematic review (CE)	10	Tobacco use	Mass media campaigns
Australian Government Department of Health 2016	Post-Implementation Review Tobacco Plain Packaging 2016	Evaluation	Original analysis	Tobacco use	Regulation and policies
Bardus 2016	Mobile and Web 2.0 interventions for weight management: an overview of review evidence and its methodological quality	Umbrella review	44	Overweight and obesity	Healthy lifestyle
Bell 2016	The Obesity Prevention and Lifestyle (OPAL) program evaluation	Evaluation	Original analysis	Overweight and obesity	Multiple strategies
Study ID	Title	Publication type	No. reviews or studies included	Primary risk factor targeted	Primary prevention strategy
-----------------------	---	-------------------------------	---------------------------------------	------------------------------------	------------------------------------
Bell 2018	Healthy mothers and babies – a life-course approach: an Evidence Check rapid review brokered by the Sax Institute for the NSW Ministry of Health	Review – Evidence Check	22 programs, 10 reviews	Multiple risk factors	Settings-based health promotion
Bes-Rastrollo 2016	Impact of sugar taxation on body weight control: a comprehensive literature review	Umbrella review	71	Overweight and obesity	Fiscal
Bird 2018	Built and natural environment planning principles for promoting health: an umbrella review	Umbrella review	117	Multiple risk factors	Built environment and transport
Bowen 2015	The evidence base for linkages between green infrastructure, public health and economic benefit	Review	>50	Multiple risk factors	Built environment and transport
Browne 2018	Food and nutrition programs for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians: an overview of systematic reviews	Umbrella review	12	Unhealthy diet	Healthy lifestyle
Byrne 2018	Evaluation of the Foodbank WA School Breakfast and Nutrition Education Program: Final Report	Evaluation	Original analysis	Unhealthy diet	Settings-based health promotion
Cauchi 2016	Environmental components of childhood obesity prevention interventions: an overview of systematic reviews	Umbrella review	63	Overweight and obesity	Settings-based health promotion
Chamberlain 2017	Evidence for a comprehensive approach to Aboriginal tobacco control to maintain the decline in smoking: an overview of reviews among Indigenous peoples	Umbrella review	21	Tobacco use	Multiple strategies
Comans 2019	Community-based health promotion for older adults: an Evidence Check rapid review brokered by the Sax Institute	Review – Evidence Check	26	Physical inactivity	Healthy lifestyle

Study ID	Title	Publication type	No. reviews or studies included	Primary risk factor targeted	Primary prevention strategy
Craike 2018	Interventions to improve physical activity among socioeconomically disadvantaged groups: an umbrella review	Umbrella review	17	Physical inactivity	Multiple strategies
Duckett 2016	A sugary drinks tax: recovering the community costs of obesity	Report	Original analysis	Overweight and obesity	Fiscal
Ernst & Young 2018	Evaluation of the tobacco excise increases as a contributor to Smokefree 2025	Evaluation	N/A	Tobacco use	Fiscal
Frontier Economics 2019	Health benefits from water centric livable communities: a report prepared for the Water Services Association of Australia (WSAA)	Report	Approx. 100	Physical inactivity	Built environment and transport
Gebreslassie 2020	Economic evaluations of public health interventions for physical activity and healthy diet: A systematic review	Systematic review (CE)	32	Multiple risk factors	Multiple strategies
Gelius 2020	What are effective policies for promoting physical activity? A systematic review of reviews	Umbrella review	23	Physical inactivity	Regulation and policies
Global Obesity Centre (GLOBE) and Obesity Policy Coalition 2017	Tipping the Scales: Australian Obesity Prevention Consensus	Report	N/A	Overweight and obesity	Multiple strategies
Goldthorpe 2019	Are primary / elementary school- based interventions effective in preventing / ameliorating excess weight gain? A systematic review of systematic reviews	Umbrella review	10	Overweight and obesity	Settings-based health promotion
Gouldson 2018	The Economic and Social Benefits of Low-Carbon Cities: A Systematic Review of the Evidence	Review	>700	Physical inactivity	Built environment and transport
Greenhalgh 2020	Economic evaluations of tobacco control interventions	Book chapter	Original analysis	Tobacco use	Multiple strategies

Study ID	Title	Publication type	No. reviews or studies included	Primary risk factor targeted	Primary prevention strategy
Gwynne 2019	Effect of nutrition interventions on diet-related and health outcomes of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians: a systematic review	Systematic review (Indigenous populations)	26	Unhealthy diet	Multiple strategies
Hall 2015	Mobile Text Messaging for Health: A Systematic Review of Reviews	Umbrella review	15	Multiple risk factors	Healthy lifestyle
Harris 2019	Review of effectiveness of certain healthy lifestyle interventions to reduce alcohol consumption, increase levels of physical activity and healthy eating and reduce overweight and obesity	Review – Evidence Check	99	Multiple risk factors	Multiple strategies
Health Technology Analysts Pty Ltd 2020	The Potential Impact of Salt Reduction in Australia	Report	Original analysis	Unhealthy diet	Multiple strategies
Heart Foundation of Australia 2019	Blueprint for an active Australia: National Heart Foundation of Australia	Report	N/A	Physical inactivity	Multiple strategies
Hoffman 2015	Overview of systematic reviews on the health-related effects of government tobacco control policies	Umbrella review	59	Tobacco use	Multiple strategies
Норе 2017	A systematic review of economic evaluations of population-based sodium reduction interventions	Systematic review (CE)	14	Unhealthy diet	Multiple strategies
Hyseni 2017	The effects of policy actions to improve population dietary patterns and prevent diet-related non-communicable diseases: scoping review	Umbrella review	58	Unhealthy diet	Multiple strategies
Kirkpatrick 2018	Gaps in the Evidence on Population Interventions to Reduce Consumption of Sugars: A Review of Reviews	Umbrella review	12	Unhealthy diet	Multiple strategies

Study ID	Title	Publication type	No. reviews or studies included	Primary risk factor targeted	Primary prevention strategy
Korber 2015	Quality assessment of economic evaluations of health promotion programs for children and adolescents—a systematic review using the example of physical activity	Systematic review (CE)	14	Physical inactivity	Multiple strategies
Littlewood 2020	Interventions to prevent or treat childhood obesity in Māori & Pacific Islanders: a systematic review	Systematic review (Indigenous populations)	6	Overweight and obesity	Multiple strategies
Mandic 2019	Turning the Tide - from Cars to Active Transport	Report	N/A	Physical inactivity	Built environment and transport
Mannocci 2019	What public health strategies work to reduce the tobacco demand among young people? An umbrella review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses	Umbrella review	13	Tobacco use	Multiple strategies
Matwiejcczyk 2018	Characteristics of Effective Interventions Promoting Healthy Eating for Pre-Schoolers in Childcare Settings: An Umbrella Review	Umbrella review	12	Unhealthy diet	Settings-based health promotion
McKinnon 2016	Obesity-Related Policy/Environmental Interventions: A Systematic Review of Economic Analyses	Systematic review (CE)	27	Overweight and obesity	Multiple strategies
Mounsey 2020	The macroeconomic impacts of diet-related fiscal policy for NCD prevention: A systematic review	Systematic review (CE)	11	Unhealthy diet	Fiscal
Pelletier 2017	A systematic review of physical activity interventions to improve physical fitness and health outcomes among Indigenous adults living in Canada	Systematic review (Indigenous populations)	5	Physical inactivity	Healthy lifestyle
Perez-Cueto 2019	An Umbrella Review of Systematic Reviews on Food Choice and Nutrition Published between 2017 and-2019	Umbrella review	26	Unhealthy diet	Multiple strategies

Study ID	Title	Publication type	No. reviews or studies included	Primary risk factor targeted	Primary prevention strategy
Pikora 2016	Chronic disease prevention interventions in children and young adults: A rapid review	Review	119	Multiple risk factors	Multiple strategies
Proper 2019	The effectiveness of workplace health promotion interventions on physical and mental health outcomes – a systematic review of reviews	Umbrella review	23	Multiple risk factors	Settings-based health promotion
Psaltopoulou 2019	Prevention and treatment of childhood and adolescent obesity: a systematic review of meta-analyses	Umbrella review	66	Overweight and obesity	Multiple strategies
PwC 2015	Weighing the cost of obesity: A case for action	Report	Original analysis	Overweight and obesity	Multiple strategies
Queensland Government 2017	An Integrated Approach for Tackling Childhood Overweight and Obesity in Queensland. An overview	Report	N/A	Overweight and obesity	Multiple strategies
Reilly 2019	Physical activity interventions in early life aimed at reducing later risk of obesity and related non- communicable diseases: A rapid review of systematic reviews	Umbrella review	23	Overweight and obesity	Multiple strategies
Roberts 2019	Efficacy of population-wide diabetes and obesity prevention programs: An overview of systematic reviews on proximal, intermediate, and distal outcomes and a meta-analysis of impact on BMI	Umbrella review	53	Overweight and obesity	Multiple strategies
Rowbotham 2017	Effective whole-of-population strategies for preventing chronic disease. A rapid evidence review	Review	48	Multiple risk factors	Multiple strategies
Sacks 2019	Population-level strategies to support healthy weight: an Evidence Check rapid review brokered by the Sax Institute	Review – Evidence Check	89 systematic reviews; 16 additional studies	Overweight and obesity	Multiple strategies

Study ID	Title	Publication type	No. reviews or studies included	Primary risk factor targeted	Primary prevention strategy
Schorling 2017	Cost-effectiveness of salt reduction to prevent hypertension and CVD: a systematic review	Systematic review (CE)	14	Unhealthy diet	Multiple strategies
Shackleton 2016	School-Based Interventions Going Beyond Health Education to Promote Adolescent Health: Systematic Review of Reviews	Umbrella review	30	Tobacco use	Settings-based health promotion
Stacey 2017	Evidence of the Potential Effectiveness of Centre-Based Childcare Policies and Practices on Child Diet and Physical Activity: Consolidating Evidence from Systematic Reviews of Intervention Trials and Observational Studies	Umbrella review	22	Multiple risk factors	Settings-based health promotion
Stead 2019	Mass media to communicate public health messages in 6 health topic areas: a systematic review and other reviews of the evidence	Umbrella review	112	Multiple risk factors	Mass media campaigns
Stockings 2016	Prevention, early intervention, harm reduction, and treatment of substance use in young people	Umbrella review	414	Tobacco use	Multiple strategies
Swift 2016	Impact of the Cycle to Work Scheme: Evidence Report	Report	Original analysis	Physical inactivity	Built environment and transport
Task Force on Fiscal Policy for Health	Health Taxes to Save Lives: Employing Effective Excise Taxes on Tobacco, Alcohol, and Sugary Beverages	Report	Original analysis	Multiple risk factors	Fiscal
Thomson 2018	The effects of public health policies on health inequalities in high-income countries: an umbrella review	Umbrella review	29	Multiple risk factors	Multiple strategies

Study ID	Title	Publication type	No. reviews or studies included	Primary risk factor targeted	Primary prevention strategy
Toumbourou 2016	Healthy lifestyle choices in children: an Evidence Check rapid review brokered by the Sax Institute for the NSW Ministry of Health	Review – Evidence Check	39	Overweight and obesity	Settings-based health promotion
US National Cancer Institute 2016	The Economics of Tobacco and Tobacco Control	Report	N/A	Tobacco use	Multiple strategies
Van den Bosch 2017	Urban natural environments as nature-based solutions for improved public health – A systematic review of reviews	Umbrella review	13	Multiple risk factors	Built environment and transport
White 2016	Physical Activity and Exercise Interventions in the Workplace Impacting Work Outcomes: A Stakeholder-Centered Best Evidence Synthesis of Systematic Reviews	Umbrella review	18	Physical inactivity	Settings-based health promotion
Wilson 2018	Sugar taxes: A review of the evidence	Review	47	Unhealthy diet	Fiscal
World Health Organization 2015	The economic and health benefits of tobacco taxation	Report	N/A	Tobacco use	Fiscal
Zanganeh 2019	A systematic review of methods, study quality, and results of economic evaluation for childhood and adolescent obesity intervention	Systematic review (CE)	39	Overweight and obesity	Multiple strategies
Zapata- Diomedi 2015	The effects of urban form on health: costs and benefits	Review – Evidence Check	39	Physical inactivity	Built environment and transport
Zubala 2017	Promotion of physical activity interventions for community dwelling older adults: A systematic review of reviews	Umbrella review	19	Physical inactivity	Healthy lifestyle